Effects of Family Configuration on Cognitive Functions and Health Across the Adult Life Span

Sara Holmgren

Cover design by Anders Westberg and Sara Holmgren

Copyright © 2007 Sara Holmgren

ISBN: 978-91-7264-453-3

ISSN: 1654-2568

Printed by Arkitektkopia AB, Umeå

ABSTRACT

Holmgren, S. (2007). Effects of Family Configuration on Cognitive Functions and Health Across the Adult Life Span. **Doctorial Dissertation** from the Department of Psychology, Umeå University, S-901 87 Umeå, Sweden: ISBN: 978-91-7264-453-3.

This thesis examines whether childhood family configuration influences performance on cognitive functions and health in adulthood and old age. All studies examined participants in the Betula Prospective Cohort Study aged 35 to 85 years (Nilsson et al., 1997). Study I established whether there are reliable effects of sibship size and birth order in a large sample of participants in adulthood and old age. The results showed that the effects previously demonstrated in children and adolescents (e.g., Belmont & Marolla, 1973; Mercy & Steelman, 1982) have a long-lasting effect and can be demonstrated in an adult sample. These studies concluded that intelligence and executive functioning decreased as the sibship size increased. Birth order, in contrast, had only influenced executive functions and working memory: earlier born siblings performed at a higher level than later born siblings. Study II examined whether the effects of sibship size and birth order can be replicated and extended to episodic memory and whether the effects of family configuration are stable over a five-year interval. The results showed that early born siblings and siblings belonging to a smaller sibship size performed at a higher level and that these effects on both recall and recognition were stable over a five-year interval. Study III explored whether childhood family configuration influences chronic adult diseases (myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension). The overall results showed that being born in a large sibship is a risk factor for stroke, myocardial infarction /circulatory disorders, and hypertension in old age. The results also suggest that being born early in a sibship is a predictor of stroke.

Key words: sibship size, birth order, intelligence, executive functioning, episodic memory, health, diseases, adulthood, old age.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First of all I wish to express gratitude toward Professor Lars-Göran Nilsson who gave me the opportunity to become a doctorial student. Before I became a Ph.D. student, I worked for Lars-Göran as a psychometrician in the Betula Prospective Cohort Study. I am honoured that I was given the opportunity to continue to work with Betula data on which my doctoral dissertation is based on.

Another important person is my supervisor Professor Bo Molander who took me under his wings. I am very thankful for all the help you have provided me with during my time as a Ph.D. student. I will therefore acknowledge how important the expertise and commitment of Bo Molander and Lars-Göran Nilsson has been for the completion of this thesis.

I would like to thank Michael Rönnlund who has always left the door open for me for various questions. I also would like to thank Anna-Carin Olsson for all the friendly support and for valuable comments.

I especially would like to thank my family and friends who have always encouraged me and supported me during these years of challenges. I am truly blessed to have the love and support of my parents Carina Holmgren and Anders Westberg. They will always be in my heart!

Most of all I am very glad that I have found a very special person in my life. I will always be thankful for Henrik Jonsson for the love and support he has given me. I am blessed to have him by my side making my life fulfilling. The source of inspiration to finish this work has been my son Noa, the light of my life.

"The three main terms for happiness in life are: something to accomplish, something to love, something to hope for." (Chalmers, 1956, p.113).

I have had the fortune to accomplish something and a family to love. Finally, I hope I have collected wisdom, knowledge, and experience during my time as a Ph.D. student. For that I thank all my co-workers in the Department of Psychology. I have come to the end of this journey and whish you all the best.

Umeå, December, 2007

Sara Holmgren

LIST OF PAPERS

The present doctorial dissertation is based on following three articles, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Holmgren, S., Molander, B., & Nilsson, L.-G (2006). Intelligence and executive functioning in adult age: Effects of sibship size and birth order. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 18, 1, 138-158.
- II Holmgren, S., Molander, B., & Nilsson, L.-G (in press). Episodic Memory in Adult Age and Effects of Sibship size and Birth Order: Longitudinal data. *Journal of Adult Development*.
- III Nilsson, L.-G., Holmgren, S., Nilsson, E., Bergman, L.R., & Molander, B. (2007). Sibship size and birth order as predictors of heart-related diseases. Manuscript submitted for publication.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	3
BACKGROUND	
Theories of family configuration	5
The confluence model	5
Resource dilution theory	8
Economic resources hypothesis	10
Social contact hypothesis	
Genetic legacy	12
Methodological consideration	23
Flaws in past studies	
Methodological debate	23
Confounded variables in between-family data	24
Family size	
Socioeconomic status and health	
Parental age at the time of childbirth and birth weight	25
Other environmental processes	26
THE BETULA PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY	
Design	
Participants	
Procedure of collecting health and memory measures	
COGNITIVE FUNCTIONS	
Memory	
Declarative and non-declarative memory	
Memory systems	35
Neurologically differentiation	36
Memory systems and gender	
Memory systems and aging	
Working memory	
Intelligence	
Traditional theories	
Fluid and crystallized intelligence	
Aging and intelligence	
Gender and intelligence	
Genetic or environmental effects?	
Executive functions	
Neurologically differentiation	45
Tasks	
Aging and executive functions	
FAMILY CONFIGURATION AND HEALTH	47
Infarction of the heart and circulatory disorders	49

Stroke	49
Hypertension	50
THEORETICAL MODELS OF LIFE SPAN DEVELOPMENT	
SUMMARY OF EMPIRICAL STUDIES	53
Study I: Intelligence and executive functioning in adult age: Effects of	
sibship size and birth order	53
Study II: Episodic memory in adult age and effects of sibship size and	
birth order: Longitudinal data	54
Study III: Sibship size and birth order as predictors of heart-related	
diseases	56
GENERAL DISCUSSION	
Family configuration effects on life-span development	
Mechanisms and processes	
Component dissimilarities	
Sibship size and birth order as predictors of heart-related diseases	
Methodological reflections	
CONCLUSIONS	
Future directions	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

The way children are raised has been of interest for social and behavioural scientists for several years. Most scientists agree that environmental factors may be important for children's cognitive development (e.g., Bronfenbrenner, 1989; Bussey & Bandura, 1999; Erikson, 1963; Fischer & Bidell, 1998; Gibson & Pick, 2000; Siegler, 1998; Vygotsky, 1986).

Several scholars (e.g., Anastasi, 1956; Berbaum & Moreland, 1985; Brackbill & Nichols, 1982; Grotevant, Scarr, & Weinberg, 1977; Marjoribanks, 1978; Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Zajonc, 1975, 1976, 1986; Zajonc & Bargh, 1980; Zajonc & Markus, 1975) have been involved in exploring the relationship between the configuration of siblings (i.e., sibship size, birth order position, and spacing between children) and performance on various measures of intelligence. Findings indicate that younger siblings with many older siblings are generally impaired on tests of intelligence (e.g., Zajonc, 1986, 2001; Zajonc & Markus, 1975).

Some researchers state rather provocatively that the most consistent predictors of educational outcomes are due to sibship size (e.g., Blake, 1981, 1985, 1989; Downey, 1995; Powell & Steelman, 1993; Steelman 1985; Steelman & Powell, 1989). According to various measurements of intellectual skills and educational achievements, subjects with few siblings outperform subjects with many siblings (e.g., Blake, 1981, 1985, 1989; Downey, 1995; Powell & Steelman, 1993; Steelman 1985; Steelman & Powell, 1989).

Empirical support for the effect of sibship size and birth order has been obtained in a number of studies (e.g., Blau & Duncan, 1967; Downey, 2001; Kuo & Hauser, 1997; Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Mercy & Steelman, 1982; Zajonc, 2001; Zajonc & Markus, 1975). However, there are also several studies that have failed to reproduce this pattern (e.g., Guo & Van Wey, 1999; Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Steelman, 1985; Teachman, 1995; Wichman, Rodgers, & MacCallum, 2006). This inconsistency has led to a long-standing debate (e.g., Blake, 1981; Downey, 1995; Rodgers, 1984; Steelman, 1985; Zajonc, 2001) about the validity of earlier findings and about proper methods for approaching the study of effects of family size. At present, there are contradicting studies about family configuration. An overview of methods and findings of earlier conducted studies on family configuration will be presented in Table 1. These earlier studies will occur in the text as references as well.

This thesis examines whether the effects of childhood family configuration (sibship size and birth order) are true and remain to influence cognitive functions (intelligence, executive functions, and episodic memory) throughout the adult life span.

Several theories have been proposed to account for the effect of family configuration on intellectual development. The most cited studies are The Confluence Model, The Resource Dilution Theory, The Economic Resource Hypothesis, The Social Contact Hypothesis, and Genetic Legacy. The confluence model and the resource dilution theory have gained more momentum and received more attention by scientists. Therefore, the confluence model and the resource dilution theory will be described in more detail. Alternative theories will be mentioned more briefly. The content of these various theories will be described in Chapter "Theories of family configuration".

In addition, this thesis explores the relationship between childhood family configuration and chronic adult diseases (myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension). The diseases and potential risk factors will be presented in Chapter "Family configuration and health".

RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The objectives of each study will be presented below. From now on, in order to simplify the presentation of the objectives, the first paper will be referred to as I, the second as II, and the third paper as III. The objectives within each paper will be listed as a, b, c, etc.

- Ia. There are no studies that systematically have examined whether sibling size and birth order (sibship size is defined as the total number of siblings, including adopted children in the same family. Birth order is defined as a child's birth position among the children in the family) influence intelligence, memory, and other cognitive functions across the adult life span; that is, studies have not examined these issues from young adult groups through elderly groups. The first study establishes whether there are reliable effects of sibship size and birth order in a large sample of participants in adulthood and old age. Results from such a study should be of potential interest for increased understanding of the influence of childhood factors on the cognitive life of adults and elderly persons.
- Ib. Previous research (e.g., Anastasi, 1956; Berbaum & Moreland, 1985; Brackbill & Nichols, 1982; Davis, Cahan, & Bashi, 1977; Grotevant, Scarr, & Weinberg, 1977; Guo & VanWey, 1999; Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Mercy & Steelman, 1982; Pfouts, 1980; Rodgers, 1984; Zajonc, Markus, & Markus, 1979) on family configuration has been based on intelligence tests or achievement tests; we will follow this tradition and use assessments of intelligence to measure family configuration. We use standardised tests assessing visuo-spatial (The Block Design Test of Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, WAIS; Wechsler, 1981) and verbal components (Word Comprehension Test, WAIS: Kaufman, Reynolds, & McLean, 1989; Wechsler, 1981) of intelligence.
- Ic. Another objective is to extend knowledge beyond mere intelligence. Executive functioning reflects general intellectual ability (Obonsawin et al., 2002) and is strongly involved in intellectual functioning. However, there is a call for knowledge about the relationship between executive functions and general intellectual ability and the concept of executive functions since it is under scrutiny (e.g., Bryan & Luszcz, 2001). In the present study, working memory and word fluency reflect executive functions. The present study may contribute with further understanding about the concept of executive functions.

- Id. In the present study, we attempt to control for possible confounding variables such as socioeconomic status (e.g., Blake, 1981; Downey, 2001) and health (e.g., Bäckman et al., 2004; Nilsson & Söderlund, 2001), and to control for possible interactions with the sex (e.g., Herlitz, Nilsson, & Bäckman, 1997) and age variables (e.g., Cornoldi, 2006).
- IIa. The second paper examines whether the effects of sibship size and birth order previously observed in assessments of intelligence and executive functions (e.g., Holmgren et al., 2006) can be replicated and extended to episodic memory. The objective is to explore whether sibship size and birth order will affect performance in recall and recognition in general, and, in particularly, this study explores the stability of these measures across age groups (middle-age, young-old, and old-old).
- IIb. A longitudinal examination of effects of family configuration is performed and presented in the second paper. Longitudinal designs are unusual in sibship size and birth order studies, and they are not previously performed in such studies that examine life-span development. Other reasons for a longitudinal approach are to observe the intraindividual stability of family configuration and the advantage of less age-related impairment in contrast to a cross-sectional design (e.g., Rönnlund, Nyberg, Bäckman, & Nilsson, 2005).
- IIc. In the present study, we are interested in examining whether the age of the parents at the time of birth of the participants is a factor that must be considered in studies of family configuration, since it has been reported that the age of the parents at the time of the birth of their children have an effect on children's intelligence score (e.g., Malaspina et al., 2005).
- IIIa. In the third paper, the issue is whether family configuration influences the health variable. The objective is to establish the role of sibship size and birth order on chronic adult diseases (myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension). These kind of studies are largely lacking with the exception of previous studies examining other diseases such as asthma (e.g., Karmaus & Botezan, 2002).

BACKGROUND

Theories of family configuration

The confluence model

Several scientists (e.g., Belmont & Marolla, 1973; Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Zajonc, 1976, 2001; Zajonc & Marcus, 1975) found that earlier born children and children in smaller sibling groups outperformed children who were born later or who came from larger sibling groups. The only child performs only slightly better in comparison with the last child in a threechild family. The results also view a sharp drop for the last child within each family size. Zajonc and Markus (1975) initiated the confluence model to illustrate the negative correlation between family size and performance on various intelligence measures, the birth order effect, and birth intervals on these scores. This tendency was revealed by a large set of Dutch data (i.e., Belmont & Marolla, 1973). Belmont and Marolla (1973) observed that there was a relationship between birth order and intelligence scores, but they did not suggest underlying factors or processes to explain their results. The confluence model offers such an explanation and has been applied to other data sets (e.g., Berbaum & Moreland, 1980, 1985; Galbraith, 1982; Grotevant, Scarr, & Weinberg, 1977; Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Rodgers, 1984) to explain birth order patterns as well.

Most research about family configuration (i.e., sibship size, birth order, and child spacing) and cognitive performance has been guided by the confluence model. One explanation is the cleverness of the theory, its widespread appeal, and the praise the model has received (Galbraith, 1983; Steelman, 1985).

The confluence model is a theory that both explains underlying behavioural processes and offers a mathematical operationalization (Rodgers, 1984). Because the confluence model is based on a first-order difference equation, the model shows that each sibling is born into a weaker intellectual environment.

The intellectual environment varies with number of newborn children in the family. Each family member contributes to the average intelligence in the family, and therefore, the average intelligence is changing over time. Change may be due to the addition of a newborn or a family member moving out. The average intelligence depends on the number of children and the intervals between births (Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Zajonc, 2001; Zajonc & Markus, 1975). Zajonc (1986) suggests the following explanation:

The only child is surrounded mainly by adults, whereas the third of seven children is surrounded by intellectually immature individuals, is exposed to a less extensive pool of words, and witnesses primarily how toddlers confront their world. (p.862).

Several scientists (e.g., Breland, 1974; Mascie-Taylor, 1980; Nisbet, 1953, 1953; Nisbet & Entwistle, 1967; Scott & Nisbet, 1955) note that verbal tests, in comparison with nonverbal tests, are more sensitive to the effects of family configuration. Reduction in parental attention due to the birth of more children may negatively influence verbal development (Mercy & Steelman, 1982). Zajonc (1975) even advised parents to have no more than two children if they were concerned with the intellectual growth of their children.

Research (e.g., Baydar, Greek, & Brooks-Gunn, 1997) has also shown that the arrivals of newborns have an effect on home environment. First-born children have been reported receiving more attention and verbal stimulation from their parents during infancy and throughout upbringing in comparison to later-born children. It is reasonable to believe that this interaction with adults may explain why the first-born is reported to learn to walk, talk, and read at an earlier age (Pfouts, 1980). Further research on family interaction (e.g., Irish, 1964) revealed that older siblings often informally teach their younger siblings.

The effect of time spent with friends has also been examined, and the results give further support for the confluence model. The data revealed that time spent with friends was negatively related to children's performance on intelligence tests (Mercy and Steelman, 1982). Other scientists (e.g., Allen & Feldman, 1973; Gartner, Kohler, & Riessman, 1971) have observed peer tutoring among children and concluded that the teaching process can benefit the tutor as well as the learner.

The teaching function is another important factor that must be considered in the confluence model. In addition to sibship size, birth order has been reported to have a positive effect on the development of intelligence. Most of the time first-born children score at a higher level on intellectual tests than later-born children; for this reason, we can talk about a birth-order factor. Older siblings can assume a "tutorial function" by answering questions and helping their younger siblings to solve problems. By doing so (i.e., learning by teaching and rehearsal) this activity will provide the older sibling with an intellectual advantage in form of verbal fluency and set the stage for a birth-order effect. The birth order is a critical factor because neither the youngest sibling nor the only child will have the opportunity to teach their siblings (Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Zajonc, 1976, 2001; Zajonc and Markus, 1975; Zajonc, Markus, and Markus, 1979). With this in mind, the confluence model expects a handicap for last born and only child with regards to the teaching function.

"A few years after the birth of his or her younger sibling, the first-born acquires a teaching function, and thus his or her rate of growth accelerates and eventually surpasses the rate of growth of the only child. At maturity, the first of two will have a higher intellectual level than the only child" (Zajonc, Markus, & Markus, 1979, p. 1333).

It is hypothesized that increasing family size decreases the average intellectual environment, whereas increasing age spacing between children increases the average intellectual environment. Birth order is mediated completely by the age spacing between siblings. A negative effect of birth order is expected with small spacing between children, whereas a positive effect is likely with large spacing between children (Galbraith, 1982). The confluence model assumes that longer birth intervals provide the older siblings with more time to mature, which leads to higher average intellectual performance (Markus & Zajonc, 1977).

By examining the interaction between a child and the younger sibling, Marjoribanks (1978) found that age spacing might influence how often the interaction occurs. Smaller age spacing between child and adjacent sibling benefits interaction in a teaching situation. However, the amount of teaching is associated only to the intelligence scores and to the verbal environment that is provided in the home.

Zajonc and collaborators (Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Zajonc, Markus, & Markus, 1979) did some modification of the confluence model by including the age of the participant at the test occasion. The child's age at the test occasion is an important variable concerning the family structure effect and may help explain why some data reveal a positive relationship between birth order and performance; however, other data reveal a negative effect or null effect. This is one possible reason for the discrepancy between various data sets (Zajonc, 2001). The confluence model supplies a solution to this birth order puzzle, which alternative explanation (e.g., SES, and cohort effects) cannot offer (Zajonc, Markus, & Markus, 1979). The age factor has to do with the positive effect of the teaching function. However, this effect is not viewed at birth because it grows at first less rapidly than the negative effect of increasing sibship. Zajonc expects a negative effect, or no influence of birth order at all for children younger than 11[±]2 years, and a positive effect of birth order for older children. It is suggested that the quality of the environment is a vital factor in cognitive development, especially during the early stages of development in comparison with adolescence (Zajonc, 2001).

Steelman (1985) reviewed previously conducted studies in an attempt to investigate the intellectual consequences of sibship size and birth order. There is some evidence in this research literature against the predictions of the confluence model. Steelman suggests that scientists should use the confluence model as springboard and develop new models that might

explain the existing relationship better than the original one does. There are two choices when it comes to the confluence model; the first one is to reject the model as a consequence of evidence against it. The second choice is to accept the theory because no one has been able to make an appropriate test of the model. Zajonc (1983) strongly feels that longitudinal data on intact families is necessary in order to test the confluence model in a correct way. As a consequence, according to Steelman (1985), the confluence model is probably not testable because the data that are required are impractical and impossible to collect.

It is suggested by critics of the confluence model that the negative effect of birth order and family size on intelligence are, in fact, the tendency for parents with lower SES to have more children (Rodgers, 1988).

Zajonc and Marcus (1975) point out that the confluence model illustrates the importance of the environment on intellectual development of individuals. The authors acknowledge other factors not included in the model that contribute to the intellectual development as well, such as genetic background and other environmental processes (e.g., child rearing practices and unique experience). However, the authors consider birth order as a strictly environmental factor.

In sum, the core of the confluence model is that the intellectual level within the family provided by adults and children is crucial for the intellectual development of each child.

Resource dilution theory

The second theory is the resource dilution theory, which offers a simple resource explanation for declines in educational outcomes and in intellectual assessments. Most or all of the relationship found can be explained from the assumption that when the number of children in the family increases, the parents' resources decrease.

It is important to differentiate between basic parental resources that are important for survival (e.g., food, clothes, minimal supervision, and, of course, a place to live) and resources that enhance children's opportunities (e.g., one-to-one reading, hiring a math tutor, buying computers, and saving money for education) and therefore not essential for children's survival. However, surplus resources enhance children's opportunities (Downey, 2001). With regards to surplus resources it has been reported that children with many siblings, in contrast to children with few siblings, are not engaged in activities that enhance intelligence and they spend less time together with their parents (Steelman & Powell, 1989).

Dilution theorists also believe that some resources play a larger role than others, depending on periods in children's life. One such resource is parental attention—the most important resource when the children are

young-whereas money saved for education is more important when children are older (Downey, 2001).

Blake (1981) concluded that encouragement, attention, and interaction by parents are the most important factors. Parents cannot successfully eliminate the negative outcome sibsize has on treatments by offering their children cultural and physical advantages (settings). It has also been pointed out that close spacing of siblings leads to more competition between the siblings for similar parental resources (Downey, 2001).

Some authors (e.g., Ernst & Angst, 1983) believe that the inverse association between sibship size and educational achievement is an artefact and is in fact a function of socioeconomic status. Children from large families are disproportionately from groups with lower socioeconomic status. However, although sibship size is negatively related to social class, the effect of number of siblings remains strong even when socioeconomic status is controlled for (Downey, 1995).

The effect of number of siblings may vary across contexts because different societies play different roles in supporting the family. Studies that have reported a weak link between educational achievement and sibship size have often been conducted in communities with norms that support large families (Downey, 2001). The negative effect of sibship size may be counterbalanced if other adults (e.g., neighbours, coaches, teachers, and relatives) have a significant role in children's life.

Pong (1997) argued that the effect of siblings is weak in the case where the state supplements education in comparison to states that plays a minor role. In the latter case, the family will play a large role, and, as a consequence, sibship size will have a stronger effect on educational outcomes.

Of importance is that European and American systems of higher education differ regarding contribution from the family. In the American system, parental financial contributions for college expenses are expected, although the parental support is voluntary (Steelman & Powell, 1989).

A suggested functional form between sibship size and educational outcome is

target child (y) = 1/number of children in the family (x).

This relationship is believed to occur only between sibship size and strictly economic parental resources. Economic resources in comparison with interpersonal resources may be less readily explained. One explanation is that the parents can decide over their spare time and choose to quit exercising or reading when the second child is born (Downey, 2001).

A comparison between the confluence model and the resource dilution theory show that the two theories have in common the assumption that large families tend to bring about low-IQ children (Rodgers et al. 2000).

The resource dilution theory predicts a negative effect of sibship size as does the confluence model (Guo & VanWey, 1999); however, the confluence model does not propose an explanation regarding effects of sibship size on educational achievement merits separately from intellectual skills. However, the resource dilution model offers such an explanation: some parental resources affect intellectual skills, while other parental resources, such as money saved for college, influence educational achievement directly (Downey, 2001).

Because early born children receive more parental attention than later born children, the resource dilution model and the confluence model predict that early born children do not have to share parental resources until new siblings arrive (Downey, 2001). In contrast to the confluence model, the resource dilution model does not include a sib-socialization component. In other words, only children and last-borns are not handicapped by lack of siblings; they do not suffer from a teaching deficit. The parental dilution model implies nothing about possible birth order effects (Blake, 1981). The dilution theory concludes that children still continue to compete for parental attention (e.g., gifts, loans and inheritances) even after they moved out of the home (Downey, 2001).

According to Steelman and Powell (1989), the resource dilution theory has been used as an ad hoc explanation for the educational outcomes due to sibship size. Therefore, the theory is seldom tested directly. However, several studies note a negative effect of sibship size on financial arrangements (e.g., Steelman & Powell, 1989), intellectual performance (e.g., Blake, 1981; Marjoribanks, 1990), parental treatments and attention (e.g., Blake, 1981; Downey, 1995), and material resources (e.g., Downey, 1995). Blake (1981) reported that the only child performs equally well or slightly better in comparison with those from two-child families. The performance drops off starting with three-child family and beyond.

Clearly, the core of the resource dilution theory is that the availability of resources of parents decreases as sibship size increases.

Economic resources hypothesis

The economic resources hypothesis is a resource theory similar to resource dilution theory, but with an economic approach. The economic resources hypothesis is a theoretical explanation of the influence of family size on the per capita material resources that are distributed by the parents. The pattern observed is the decline in resources as the family increases in size (Steelman, 1985).

Found patterns of previous studies support the economic resources hypothesis since it has been reported that the negative influence of sibship size is either reduced or eliminated when the socioeconomic status of the family increases. Moreover, the curvilinear association between sibship size and educational achievement reported by Olneck and Bills (1979) is further support for the hypothesis of economic resources. As the impact of family size diminishes, an economic explanation over a psychological one is suggested. It is also suggested that additional siblings generate less of a relative strain on the resources of larger families in contrast to smaller families. Additional siblings should not require the same amount of investment regarding items (e.g., toys, books), since younger siblings can inherit from older siblings (Steelman, 1985).

The theory agrees with data that shows that birth order has no effects, as the general tendency is that most families receive higher economic status by the time the youngest children are born. This tendency may counteract possible effect of initial advantage for first-born children. If resources were expected to be invariant over time, we would expect the early born child to have an intellectual advantage (Steelman, 1985).

Social contact hypothesis

The Social Contact Hypothesis is a resource theory similar to resource dilution theory, but with a different approach. The theory states that the size of the family determines the extent to which parents have the ability to interact with their own children and how much undivided attention they can give to their children (Steelman, 1985). Support for the social contact hypothesis is the fact that performance on verbal tests of intelligence is more affected by family size compared to non-verbal tests. There is some support that this effect may persist into adult life (Scott & Nisbet, 1955). This may not come as a surprise as the development of verbal skills occurs in a social context (Steelman, 1985). Several studies (Nisbet, 1953, 1953; Scott & Nisbet, 1955) were conducted to examine the role of parental contact regarding family size and intelligence. The authors concluded that some of the negative effect family size has on intelligence may be explained with the effect sibship size has on verbal development. According to Scott and Nisbet (1955), children are less stimulated to develop the use of words in large families. If this theory is accurate, a birth order effect is expected, as the first-born child and early born children will spend some uninterrupted time with their parents. However, because birth order effect is not found, the theory is undermined, unless one could argue that older siblings are as stimulating as adults when it comes to verbal interactions (Steelman, 1985).

The spokesmen for the social contact hypothesis argue that the curvilinear relationship found between sibship size and intelligence is evidence for this theory. The decline found in children's received attention and encouragement is related to sibship size according to a curvilinear function. One can explain this phenomenon by stating that one child receives all the attention and encouragement, two children split the attention, and each of three children receives one-third of the attention and

so on (Nisbet & Entwistle, 1967). However, Steelman (1985) points to the fact that two theories (social contact hypothesis and economic resources hypothesis) can use the same curvilinear pattern as support and argues for the need of alternative explanations.

Genetic legacy

Some scientists (e.g., Grotevant, Scarr, and Weinberg, 1977) suggest that the effect of sibship size depends on genetic legacy. The proposed explanation is that parents that have many children represent those less genetically fit regarding intelligence; therefore, these parents pass their weakness on to their children. Support for this theory is that adopted children are not influenced significantly, while biological children are influenced significantly by confluence factors (Steelman, 1985).

The theory behind all genetic models is the combination of the genetic contribution from the parent's pool of genes. According to Belmont and Marolla (1973), a genetic explanation of the birth order effect is unlikely. Another suggested explanation is biological where mothers may be less effective reproducers with increasing numbers of births. The prenatal environment theory (i.e., gestation effect) has been tested indirectly by Belmont, Stein, and Susser (1975); it received no support.

Table 1 Methods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies on Family Configuration

Statistics Independent/ Dependent variables Major findings control variables	ew. Family size. Intelligence Tests. Observed association between family size and intelligence.	m Mean Raven Birth order, family Raven scores. class scores by size, and social family size and class. s. birth order.	495 One-way Gender, birth order, Swedish Communicative Girls performed at a higher ected ANOVA, and SES, and child care. Screening at 18 months level than boys on SCS18). Includes vocabulary comprehension gestures, vocabulary and vocabulary production, comprehension and se well as first-born children production.	set was Simulation The confluence Observed mental ages. The results viewed that the 1933). techniques along model. Army Alpha examination confluence model performs or 12-year-olds and above), well and can be applied on and the Stanford-Binet individual level. The model (children under 12-years). explained 51% of the
Data	Literature review.	386,114 men from the Netherlands caparticipated. Age 19-year-olds.	524 boys and 495 girls' were selected from 37 healthcare centres in Uppsala. Age 18-month-olds.	Archival data set was used (Outhit, 1933). The data set included voice for a families from USA rand Canada. Median sace 11 years
Author	Anastasi (1956)	Bellmont & Marolla (1973)	Berglund, Eriksson, & Westerlund (2005)	Berbaum & Moreland (1980)

13

– ⊂ı

-	Author	Data	Statistics	Independent/	Dependent variables	Major findings
•				control variables		
-	Berbaum &	Within-family data	Nonlinear least	All children, biological	Stanford-Binet IQ Scale	Strong evidence for the
	Moreland	included 176 adopted	-squares	children, adopted	(age four to seven),	confluence model. Data
	(1985)	children and145	estimation	children, early adopted	Wechsler IQ Scale	from both biological and
		biological children.	procedures.	children and later	(8-year-olds to 15-year-	adopted children fit the
		4-year-olds to 22-		adopted children.	olds), and Wechsler	model. A better fit for
		year-olds (see Scarr			adult IQ Scale (16-year-	early-adopted children
		& Weinberg, 1976).			olds and above).	than for later adopted.
		The median age was			Transformed IQ scores	Evidence for
		7 years.			to mental age.	environmental influences
						of intellectual
,						development.
	Bjerkedal,	252,799 Norwegian	Between- and	Mother's age,	Score of intellectual	The authors reported a
4	Kristensen,	males, 18-19 years of	within-family	education, and marital	performance (i.e.,	negative effect of
	Skjeret, &	age. Medical Births	comparison	status, spacing of	military board	increasing birth order on
	Brevik	Registry of Norway	(N = 63,951)	births, father's income,	examination).	measures of intelligence,
	(2007)	and national registers.	adjacent sibling	region of residence,		regardless of between-
			pairs).	birth weight, and height		family analysis or within-
			Linear regression	at conscription.		family analysis.
,			analyses.			
	Blake	The University of	Schematic path	Predetermined	Sibsize, settings,	Treatments have the
	(1981)	Michigan study of	diagram,	variables are parent's	parent's treatments,	most direct effect on
		10th-grade boys,	Correlation	education, sibsize,	child ability, and	college plans followed
		Youth in Transition.	matrix.	settings, parent's	grades. Examining	by ability. Sibsize has a
				treatments, and child	effects on college	negative effect on every
•				ability.	plans.	variable in the model.

variable in the model. (Continues)

Table 1 <i>Methods an</i>	d Findings of Earlier Cona	ucted Studies on Fa	Table 1 Methods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies on Family Configuration (continued)	(pənu	
Author	Data	Statistics	Independent/ control variables	Dependent variables	Major findings
Brackbill & Nichols (1982) Davis, Cahan & Bashi (1977)	Longitudinal data from the NINCDS Collaborative Perinatal Project (NCPP). 53,000 4-year-olds and 7-year-olds participated. Two groups of Israeli students participated: Students of Asian-African origin (N = 109304), and European-American origin (N = 82689). 14-year-olds.	Biserial correlations and multiple regression equations. The averages are plotted as a function of birth order and family size.	Examined fatherabsent, "single" twins, birth interval, only children, extra adult. Controlled for socioeconomic status (SES). Birth order and family size. Examined the intellectual environment at birth by varying the values of parents' intellectual levels.	Assesses for ability: Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scale (4-year-olds) and the Wechsler Intelligence Scale (7-year-olds). Assess for achievement (i.e., reading, spelling, and arithmetic) was Wide Range Achievement Test (WRAT). Standard achievement test (i.e., arithmetic computation and mathematical problem solving).	Ability: None of the examined hypothesis of the confluence model was confirmed. Achievement: Only children performed at a lower level than other firstborns. Effects of parity were less pronounced in children if there where long pregnancy intervals. This effect was not found in all groups. Achievement decreases as an effect of birth order when there are few family members, and increases with many family members due to external factors such as schooling. The findings cannot be explained with differences in size of birth intervals or developmental rate.
					(Continues)

(Continues)

	tudies on Family Configuration (continued)
Table 1	Methods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies

Author	Data	Statistics	Author Data Statistics Independent/ Dependen	Dependent variables	Major findings
			control variables		
Galbraith	10,298	Multiple	Individual scores:	The American College	Between-family: Significant but
(1982)	students at	regression	Father's occupation and	Testing Program	rather weak effect of family size,
	Brigham	analysis on	education, mother's	Examination (ACT).	birth order position, and ${\it M}$
	Young	individual scores	education, birth year of	The differences between	spacing on ACT scores. Within-
	University.	(i.e., between-	child, family size, birth	younger sib ACT and	family: No effect of family size or
	Including	family) and	order position, and	older sib ACT was the	child spacing on ACT scores.
	complete	regression	M spacing. Siblings: In	dependent variable in the	Increase in mother's education
	data on 1200	analysis of	addition to the above,	within-family analysis.	and/or improving occupation of
	sibling pairs.	sibling score	younger sib's birth		fathers seems to reduce sibling
		differences (i.e.,	year, younger sib's		differences. Longitudinal data
		within-family).	birth order, child		reduce the effects of aggregated
			spacing, older sib's ACT		data. The explained variance of
			score, and number of		birth order and family size drops
			intervening sibs.		from 67% to 1%.
Grotevant,	319 children	Regression	The confluence model.	IQ scores.	The confluence model explained
Scarr, &	and their	analysis.			2% of the variance. The results
Weinberg	parents				showed that the confluence model
(1977)	participated.				is inappropriate for individual data
					but is useful for population trends.
Guo &	1702 youth	Convention-al	Sibship size.	Peabody Picture	Regression: A negative sibship
Van Wey	from the	regression	Change models control	Vocabulary Test-Revised	size effect. Sibling analyses and
(1999)	National eggitualise	analyses, change	family effects (i.e.,	(PPVT), Reading	repeated measures failed to
	Congitudinal Survey of	models or fixed	family SES, family	Recognition Assessment	reproduce such an effect.
	Youth (NI SY)	effect models	genetic makeup, and	of the Peabody Individual	Conclusion: after controlling for
	Test occasions,	(i.e., sibling	intellectual	Achievement Test (PIAT-	additional family/environmental
	year 1986 and	analyses and	environment.	R), and the mathematics	effects, genetic effect, child-
	1992. 14-year-	repeated		assessment of the	specific effects, and the interactions
	olds to 21-year-	measures of the		Peabody Individual	between child and family effects, the
	olds.	same individuals).		Achievement Test (PIAT-M).	effect of sibship size vanished.

(Continues)

17

Table 1

	ods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies on Family Configuration (continued)
Table 1	Methods and

Marjoribanks 900 Australian Hierarchical Number of children, (1990) children (i.e., 450 regression birth order, children's boys and 450 girls) models. Intellectual ability (i.e., and their parents. The children were The children were The children were The children from Cycle Cocupations and education. Mercy & 7119 American LISREL IV Family income, parents' Steelman children from Cycle techniques. education, number of lof the National Health Examination Sample: Children from unbroken from unbroken from unbroken from wexperience of easth of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. Matrices), and social status (i.e., parents) and education, number of education, number of education, number of education, number of sibling, preschool education, time spent variables (i.e., reading, time with homes, who have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to	Author	Data	Statistics	Independent/	Dependent variables	Major findings
900 Australian Hierarchical children (i.e., 450 regression boys and 450 girls) and their parents. The children were 11-year-olds. I of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to				control variables		
children (i.e., 450 regression boys and 450 girls) models. and their parents. The children were 11-year-olds. I of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to	Marjoribanks	900 Australian	Hierarchical	Number of children,	Family educational	Some of the analysis indicated
boys and 450 girls) models. and their parents. The children were 11-year-olds. 7119 American children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to	(1990)	children (i.e., 450	regression	birth order, children's	resources: Parents'	tentative support for the
and their parents. The children were 11-year-olds. 7119 American children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		boys and 450 girls)	models.	intellectual ability (i.e.,	aspirational references	resource dilution theory,
The children were 11-year-olds. 7119 American children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		and their parents.		Raven's Progressive	and parents press for	although the overall results
11-year-olds. 7119 American LISREL IV children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		The children were		Matrices), and social	achievement,	showed the possible
children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		11-year-olds.		status (i.e., parents	individualism,	complexity of the link between
children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to				occupations and	independence, and	sibling variable and family
children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to				education).	interaction with their	educational resources.
children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to					children.	
children from Cycle techniques. Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to	Mercy &	7119 American	LISREL IV	Family income, parents'	Wechsler Vocabulary	Number of older siblings has a
Il of the National Health Examination Survey. Sample: Children from unbroken homes, who have no experience of death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to	Steelman	children from Cycle	techniques.	education, number of	Subtest and Wechsler	negative significant effect on
uo e 6	(1982)	II of the National		older siblings, number	Block Design Subtest.	the vocabulary subtest, but is
c 9 6		Health Examination		of younger siblings,		not significant linked to block
5 9 B		Survey.		preschool education,		design.
θ. τ		Sample: Children		time spent variables		The number of younger
a 6		from unbroken		(i.e., reading, time with		siblings was found to have an
		homes, who have		friends, time alone) and		inversely effect on both
death of a sibling, or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		no experience of		number of activities.		subtests. The negative effect of
or have had any addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		death of a sibling,				number of siblings remained in
addition of other adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		or have had any				the presence of socioeconomic
adults than their parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		addition of other				controls. The number of
parents in the household. 6-year-olds to		adults than their				younger siblings has the
household. 6-year-olds to		parents in the				stronger impact on ability in
6-year-olds to		household.				comparison with number of
		6-year-olds to				older sibling.
l I-year-0ius.		11-year-olds.				

(Continues)

Table 1 <i>Methods and F</i>	Table 1 Methods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies on Family Configuration (continued)	cted Studies on F	amily Configuration (co	ntinued)	
Author	Data	Statistics	Independent/ control variables	Dependent variables	Major findings
Retherford & Sewell (1991)	Wisconsin Longitudinal Survey data 1975 provided aggregate data, between-family data (N = 1015), and within-family data (N = 507 sibling pairs). Most participants were 16-year-olds.	Examined the mathematical form of the confluence theory with nonlinear least squares regression.	Family size and birth order. By using sibling pairs (i.e., have the same parents and grew up in the same home) genetic and environmental factors are controlled for.	Henmon-Nelson Test of Mental Ability and the Raven Test Scores.	None of the tests conducted to examine the confluence model confirms the very same model. An alternative analysis based on sibling pairs indexed by birth order reveals no birth order effects on intelligence.
Rodgers (1984)	906 children. Fels Research Institute, in Ohio. 7-year-olds to 13- year-olds. Longitudinal data.		Within-family mental age scores.	IQ Tests. The forms are equated into the metric of the Stanford-Binet.	A significant correlation between the scores and the prediction of the model was reported. However, it rejects the confluence model in favour of a simpler model that consistently fits the data better.
Rodgers (1988)	Comment on Zajonc's findings.				Birth order may be alias for SES. Zajonc's findings may be an effect of a relationship between SAT and SES. Within-family longitudinal

a negative link between birth order Between-family analysis revealed family analysis viewed no sibling and performance. The withinwithin-family processes. differences. (Continues) within-family analysis and Betweenanalysis. family **NSLY** data consisted of 1311 families with 1255 sibling pairs. Rowe (2000) Cleveland, Rodgers, van den Oord, &

data are recommended to test

Table 1				
Methods á	and Findings of Earlier	Conducted Studies on I	Methods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies on Family Configuration (continued)	ntinued)
d+ A	٥	0.10.10.10		Perchange

Author	Author Data	Statistics	Independent/	Dependent variables	Major findings
			control variables		
Smith	4918 students.		Marital disruption,	Self Reported School	The confluence model needs some
(1984)	6th-grade, 8th-grade,		parental formal	Grades.	revision. It's more adequate for
	10th-grade, and		education and		white people than for black people.
	12th-grade		spacing of the		Grades have a negative relationship
	(see Smith, 1981).		adjacent younger		with numbers of siblings, although
			siblings.		this is not true for black people.
Steelman	Literature review.		Reviewed studies.	The Confluence	The confluence model generally
(1985)				model.	fails to explain differences in IQ-
					development. Recent studies do not
					support the predictions. Use the
					model as a point of departure and
					look at alternative explanations of
					the effect of siblings.
Teachman	505 senior -	A latent-	Parental education	Intellectual skills:	Little variance was found for sibling
(1995)	sophomore sibling	variable	and income,	Vocabulary test,	pairs by sex and ordinal position
	pairs were selected	structural	educational	Reading test, and	(i.e., older brother-younger brother,
	from High School and	equation model	resources, sibship	Mathematics test.	older brother-younger sister etc.).
	Beyond (HSB).	was conducted	size, and parent-		Conclusion: Ordinal position of
	Critical file for this	on within-	child interaction.		sibling is not linked to siblings'
	study was National	family data.	Control of various		mental ability.
	Centre for Educational Statistics (NCES) 1982		sibling pairs.		
Velandia,	36,000 18-year-olds		Family	College Entrance	Aggregated means: Family
Grandon, &	Columbians.		configuration	Exam Scores included	configuration variables explained
Page			variables (i.e.,	verbal aptitude,	90% of the variation.
(1978)			family size & birth	mathematical	Individual scores: The explained
			order).	aptitude, and abstract	variance dropped to less than 1
				reasoning.	percent, when the model was applied on individual scores.
					(Continues)

Multilevel nal Survey models and Nested data s to 8- were used on Nested data were used on Near-solds to data. ds vear- ds, units. Partial correlations. ds), and 1-year- oles were T Multiple T regression om analyses.	Statistics Independent/	Dependent variables	Major findings
National Longitudinal Survey Longitudinal Survey of Youth. 7-year-olds to 8- year-olds (N = 1902), within-family and 13-year-olds to 14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year- olds), American (17-year-olds), French (6 to 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	control variables		
& Longitudinal Survey models and of Youth. Nested data 7-year-olds to 8- were used on year-olds (N = 1902), within-family and 13-year-olds to data. 14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year-olds), and S.D. (17-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) and Samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	ultilevel First model included	Subtests (i.e.,	Significant birth order effect was
of Youth. Nested data 7-year-olds to 8- year-olds (N = 1902), within-family and 13-year-olds to 14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year- olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), units. Partial French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971,	odels and birth order, second	mathematics, reading	received on all PIAT assess. Cohorts
7-year-olds to 8- were used on year-olds (N = 1902), within-family and 13-year-olds to 14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year-olds) and S.D. (17-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		recognition, and	did not alter the significance. When
year-olds (N = 1902), within-family and 13-year-olds to data. 14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year-olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), and French (6 to Correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		reading	added maternal age birth order
and 13-year-olds to data. 14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year- olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), and French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971,	thin-family examined if birth	comprehension) of	became no significant.
14-year-olds (N = 1769). Dutch (19-year- Mean scores olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), and French (6 to Correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		Peabody Individual	Conclusion: Birth order has no effect
Dutch (19-year- Dutch (19-year- olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), and Erench (6 to 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Pultiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971,	across age cohorts),	Achievement Test	on intelligence. The birth order
Dutch (19-year- Mean scores olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), Erench (6 to 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	and in the third model	(PIAT) assessed	effect was confounded by factors
Dutch (19-year- olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), units. Partial French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	maternal age at birth	intelligence.	that vary between families.
Dutch (19-year- Mean scores olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), units. Partial French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and			
olds), American and S.D. (17-year-olds), units. Partial French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	ean scores Family size and birth	Raven (Dutch),	All samples: Decline in intellectual
(17-year-olds), units. Partial French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		National Merit	performance with increasing family
French (6 to correlations. 14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year-olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	its. Partial	Scholarship	size.
14-year-olds), and Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	rrelations.	Qualification Test	Dutch and American samples: A
Scottish (11-year- olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		(American), I.Q. Gille	decline in intelligence for later
olds) samples were used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		(France), and	siblings. French sample:
used. 12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		Stanford-Binet	Performance increased for later
12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		(Scotland).	siblings.
12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and			Scottish sample: Viewed
12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and			inconsistent birth order results.
12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and			Conclusion: The inconsistent results
12,597 SAT Multiple participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and			may depend on child spacing.
participants, regression selected from analyses. cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	ultiple Birth order and family	Scholastic Aptitude	Birth order and family size explained
selected from cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and		Test (SAT scores)	approximately 3% of the variance.
cohorts 1970-1971, 1973-1974, and	alyses.	included verbal	The SAT scores viewed little
1973-1974, and		ability, quantitative	variation with family configuration.
		ability, and combined.	
19/6-19//.			

Table 1 <i>Methods an</i>	nd Findings of Earlier C	Conducted Studies on	Table 1 Methods and Findings of Earlier Conducted Studies on Family Configuration (continued)	continued)	
Author	Data	Statistics	Independent/ control variables	Dependent variables	Major findings
Zajonc & Bargh (1980b)	Six national data sets (i.e., Dutch, French, Scottish, American, Western Israeli, & Oriental Israeli survey). The total N was 1.5 million.	Re-parameterized model was used to simulate the mental patterns. Correlation coefficient and multiple regression analyses.	Predicted values of the confluence model. Factors of birth order and family size.	Mental scores such as Raven Progressive Matrices or National Merit Scholarship Qualification Test (NMSQT).	Birth order and family size explained 92 % of the variance (i.e., average ℓ = .92). All surveys linked intellectual performance to family configuration. The confluence model was able to accurate prediction.
Zajonc & Markus (1975)	The Belmont- Marolla results are reproduced.	A linear transformation.	Birth order, birth order squared, family size, and lastborns. SES was ruled out by Belmont & Marolla.	Raven Scores.	The confluence model explains the findings by Belmont & Marolla (i.e., large families are linked with lower intellectual performance, and intellectual performance decreases with birth order). The confluence model explained 97% of the variance.
Zajonc, Markus, & Markus (1979)	Literature review.		Birth order and family size.	Various measurements of intelligence (e.g., Raven, Stanford-Binet, Gille IQ), and abilities test (e.g., Primary Abilities Test).	The results of family size are consistent, showing a decline in scores with size. The pattern of results in the literature review concerning birth order are expected on the basis of the confluence model.

Methodological considerations

Previously reported conclusions about the link between family configurations and performance in various cognitive tasks are heavily debated, and different research designs have produced different results. With this in mind, a presentation of methodological problems and potential confounding variables within this domain will be discussed later.

Flaws in past studies

Several studies have examined the effects of birth order on cognitive performance (e.g., educational attainment, scores on educational achievement tests, and intelligence tests), but according to reviewers (e.g., Adams, 1972; Schooler, 1972; Steelman, 1985) previous studies are flawed, conceptually or methodologically. The major faults of earlier research are non-probability sampling (i.e., samples that are not representative of the population), selection bias, inadequate measurement of key variables, and lack of control of socioeconomic background or family structure (Retherford & Sewell, 1991).

Methodological debate

Some authors (e.g., Rodgers, Cleveland, Oord, & Rowe, 2000) question the relationship between birth order and intelligence and claim that the relationship is a methodological illusion due to the use of between-family data containing potential selection bias. For example, depending on the design, the selection bias may be related to socioeconomic conditions, race, region of the country, or family structure (i.e., sibship size, and birth order).

Studies that have used between-family data (e.g., Anastasi, 1956; Bellmont & Marolla, 1973; Berglund, Eriksson, & Westerlund, 2005; Blake, 1981; Zajonc, 1976; Zajonc & Bargh, 1980) have reported an association between sibship size, birth order, and behavioural outcomes, while studies using within-family data (e.g., Galbraith, 1982; Records et al., 1969; Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Rodgers et al., 2000; Wichman, Rodgers, & MacCallum, 2006) have found only a weak association or no association at all, with some exceptions (e.g., Berbaum & Moreland, 1985; Bjerkedal, Kristensen, Skjeret, & Brevik, 2007). This discrepancy has led to a debate that is still not settled although it has been discussed intensely (e.g., Armor, 2001; Downey, 2001; Rodgers, 2001; Rodgers, Clevland, van den Oord, & Rowe, 2001; Zajonc, 2001; Rodgers, 2001).

According to Steelman and Powell (1989), intra-familial data offer a more rigorous test for examining birth order effects than interfamilial data. However, some authors (e.g., Zajonc, 2001) disagree with spokesmen for

within-family data with the argument that if the families are compared at the same time, birth order will be confounded with age effects. An advantage of using between-family data is that aggregated effects are easier revealed than in within-family data. If a within-family analysis is to be conducted, a longitudinal approach with control for time period effects is necessary. One advantage of using within-family designs is that variations in social class, sibship size, and parental personality will be reduced. However, although this design provides methodological advantages, it may not be more proper to use than a between-family design (Michalski & Shackelford, 2001). The argument behind this statement is that additional confounds (i.e., withinfamily changes over time may be social status) may occur in within-family designs as well. As stated by Wichman, Rodgers, and MacCallum (2006), there are many potential threats to studies of siblings, such as within-family influences (e.g., birth order, and SES over time) and between-family influences (e.g., mother's intelligence, parental disciplinary style, and quality of schools).

Guo and VanWey (1999) note that siblings do share family economic resources and are exposed to a similar intellectual climate in the family, but siblings also share neighbourhoods and similar schools. Guo and VanWey controlled for parental genetic effects instead of controlling for genetic effects shared among siblings, because they believed that it is the former type of effects that correlate with family size.

Confounded variables in between-family data

In this chapter, I have focused only on potential between-family confounders as the present thesis is based on such data (see Chapter "The Betula Prospective Cohort Study").

Family size

If birth order was calculated across families of all sizes, then family size is a possible confounder. In other words, "the mean for second-born children was based on second borns of families having two or more children, the mean for third-born children was based on families with three or more children, and so on" (Berbaum, Markus, & Zajonc, 1982, p. 178). This type of confounding variable may be the reason why the patterns of sibling differences are stronger in the between-family data as compared to within-family data reported in earlier conducted studies (e.g., Record, McKeown, & Edvards, 1969).

Some researchers (e.g., Rodgers, Cleveland, Oord, & Rowe, 2000) consider birth order as a within-family measure. If birth order is examined with cross-sectional samples, it operates as a proxy for between-family variables (e.g., SES, educational level, nutritional quality, maternal age) and

relationships between birth order and IQ. Family size, on the contrary, is considered as a between-family measure.

Socioeconomic status and health

There are several other authors (e.g., Blake, 1981, 1989; Downey, 2001; Rodgers, 1988; Zajonc, 1976) who have pointed out the existing link between lower socioeconomic status and families with many children, but socioeconomic status has also been connected with health. It is known that health and medical conditions (e.g., dementia, heart infarction, circulation disorders, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes) is related to life style and socioeconomic status, but it also influences cognitive performance (e.g., Bäckman et al., 2003, 2004; Lee et al., 2003; Nilsson & Söderlund, 2001; Stachran et al., 1997).

Parental age at the time of childbirth and birth weight

Another factor of interest to control for is parental age at time of birth of children. Malaspina et al. (2005) reported an independent effect of parental age on children's intelligence scores. They observed an inverted U-shaped relationship. Other scholars, such as Record, McKeown, and Edwards (1969), found a positive relationship between maternal age and children's intellectual progress, explaining this finding by stating that older women are more prepared emotionally, more educated, or more intelligent compared to younger mothers. Similarly, Wichman, Rodgers, and MacCallum (2006) believe it is important to control for mother's age at birth because it can influence sibship size and the conditions in the home. Therefore, maternal age can capture many between-family environmental factors that may influence children's intelligence. Paternal age is also associated with low birth weight. Risk factors for low birth weight (< 2500 grams) are first childbirth and teenage fathers (Lu, Sung, & Li, 2003). James (1969) reported that birth weight increases with birth order. In other words, a first-born child weighs less than second, and the second child weighs less than the third. This tendency disappears after the birth of the fifth child.

Children with low birth weights endure increased risk of developing diseases (e.g., type 2 diabetes, coronary heart disease, and osteoporosis) in adult life (Barker, 1998). Shenkin, Starr, and Deary (2004) reviewed literature on the association between normal birth weight (>2500 grams), over 2500 grams, and childhood intelligence. They found a small positive relationship between birth weight and intelligence even after controlling for confounders.

Women in the age of 30 are more likely to give birth to premature babies or give birth to children with low birth weight due to a decline in the condition of the eggs. It is even calculated that 90% of a woman's eggs are abnormal by the time women reach age 42 (Cnattingius, Berendes, & Forman, 1993; Gibbs, 2002).

Other environmental processes

Cognitive performance of children is also influenced by parents' expectations on their children and the language environment in the home (Marjoribanks, 1978). Variables predicting performance on American College Testing Program Examination (ACT) are father's occupation and education and mother's education. These variables produce a positive effect on performance, independent of sibship size and spacing between siblings (Galbraith, 1982). Education seems to provide the individual with tools (e.g., strategies and verbal skills) that leads to a direct influence on cognitive performance (Ceci, 1991).

THE BETULA PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY

In this thesis, the participants are from the Betula prospective cohort study. In 1988 Lars-Göran Nilsson, Department of Psychology, Umeå University, began the Betula project. The university town of Umeå, the centre of the study, is situated on the coast in northern Sweden. The town has 110.000 people and is known for its many birch trees. Because Betula means birch tree in Latin, this name was chosen for the project.

The Betula project studies health and memory in adulthood and old age (e.g., Nilsson, 1996). Other objectives are determining preclinical cognitive signs of dementia (e.g., Nilsson, 1999; Nilsson, Winblad, Adolfsson, Bucht, & Bäckman, 1992) and finding out risk factors for dementia (e.g., Nilsson et al., 2004). The final objective is to assess premorbid memory function in those cases where brain injuries occur during the course of the project (Nilsson et al. 1997).

Three test occasions of data collection (T1 = 1988-90, T2 = 1993-95, T3 = 1998-2000) were initially planned (Nilsson et al. (1997); however, an additional test occasion (T4) was completed between the 2003 and 2005. Currently, there are plans for another test occasion (T5) between 2008 and 2010.

Design

The Betula study increases the possibility to separate the effects of age, cohort, and time on cognitive functions. The design of the study allows for several types of analyses: cross-sequential, cohort-sequential, time-sequential, cross-sectional, and longitudinal. More importantly, the design allows for testing the reliability of data of independent samples.

The design used in the Betula study follows a model that has been developed by Schaie (1965, 1977).

An overview of the design is presented in Table 2, where information on age of participants at test occasion is provided, as well as birth-year of participants, number of participants in each sample, and time of test occasion.

The design was initially planned to contain three independent samples (S1, S2, and S3) each containing 1000 participants. Each sample included 10 age cohorts that ranged from 35-40 year-olds to 80-85 year-olds, with 100 participants in each cohort (Nilsson et al., 1997).

In test wave three (T3), a fourth sample (S4) was added to the design. In (S4) two additional age cohorts (85 and 90) were included in the design. For these age groups, there were only 50 participants in each cohort due to various reasons (unwillingness to participate or failure to reach the criteria that was set for participation). Consequently, S4 consisted of 1100 participants. Due to the problems of recruiting older participants, the designed number of participants in sample five (S5) consisted of 50 participants in each of the age groups. Also, one 95 year-old group was added, making a total of 13 age groups in the S5 sample.

As shown in Table 2, the samples differ systematically regarding the age of the participants. The design makes it possible to compare age groups using cross-sectional analysis and to exclude potential cohort effects. The age of the participants in S1 and S2 at first test occasion ranged from 35 year-olds to 80 year-olds, and 40 year-olds to 85 year-olds, respectively. Participants in S3, S4, and S5 were at the same age as the participants in S1 when they were tested for the first time.

This design makes allows for longitudinal analyses with proper control for training effects. The participants in S1 have been tested four times (T1, T2, T3, and T4), while the participants of S2 have been tested twice (T2, and T3). Participants of S3 have participated on three occasions (T2, T3, and T4). The participants of S4 and S5 have only been engaged in the project once (T3 and T4, respectively). As shown in Table 2, there was a five-year interval between the test occasions for each participant. (See Nilsson et al. (1992) for a more complete description of how to compare different samples to achieve control of various factors).

Participants

The participants were 35 to 95 year-old men and women from Umeå and the surrounding community who were randomly selected from the population registry. Individuals with health-related problems—such as dementia, mental retardation, or sensory handicap—were removed from the study. Individuals who did not accept to participate, could not be reached, or missed the appointment were also excluded. A crucial factor for participation was the native language of the participants. Non-native speakers of Swedish speaking were also excluded from the study (Nilsson et al., 1997).

The generality of the samples was tested by comparing participants with the overall population. This was achieved by using information about the Swedish population characteristics (Statistiska centralbyrån, 1985). The demographic variables were gender, marital status, employment, education, income, and number of persons living in the household. Nilsson et al. (1997) reported that the analysis revealed no major differences between participants and the Swedish population in general. However, there were small differences regarding employment and income. Participants in the Betula study of age 40, 55, 65, and 70, were employed to a greater extent. It was also reported that the participants of age 70, 75, and 80 had a higher income compared to the overall population. The participants in the Betula study reported a higher level of formal education and a higher income as compared to the overall population; these differences may be because Umeå is a university town. A presentation of the characteristics of the participants (S1T1, S2T2, and S3T2) on which this thesis is based on is presented in Table 3.

Procedure of collecting health and memory measures

The participants were introduced to the Betula study by a posted letter and told that the main purpose of the project was to examine memory and health. Furthermore, the participants were told that by participating they would help increase knowledge about why some people perform at lower memory level with increasing age and how aspects of health, environment, and heritage affect memory functions.

The participants were later contacted over the phone to settle the first appointment with a nurse. The 1.5- to 2-hour meeting with the nurse included filling in questionnaires, health examination, and cognitive testing. An overview of the tests assessed by nurses is presented in Table 4.

Participants in the project received a questionnaire to complete before the meeting with the nurse. Included were questions about daily living activities, socioeconomic background, living, childhood (e.g., child diseases, type of place, paternal age at birth of participant, birth order of the participant, and number of siblings), medical treatments, history of family diseases, and memory difficulties

The next interview and recording addressed health condition and active daily status and a health examination (i.e., height, weight, vision, hearing, blood pressure, heart rate, blood and urinal samples) of the participant. Nurses also carried out some of the cognitive tests: Mini-Mental State Examination, a source memory test, and a word comprehension test.

At the end of the health examination session, the nurse left questionnaires for the participants to complete before the memory test session, which took place approximately one week later. Among these questionnaires was Critical Life Events, which included questions that addressed status of work environment, economic status, family status, death in the family or severe diseases in the family, and status of friends the past five years.

During the memory test session, a wide range of processes and memory systems were tested (Table 5). The tests included short-term memory and long-term memory processing, semantic memory, episodic memory, priming, and attention. It was important that the tasks were embedded in extant theories of memory. The tasks should also be able to dissociate different memory functions in relation to age and be sensitive to memory deficit in old age. The test battery was deliberately biased toward episodic memory because in such tasks the magnitude of age-related deficits is typically most pronounced. The memory test session lasted 1.5-2 hours. For a more detailed description of the measurement of medical, social, and cognitive variables, see Nilsson et al. (1992) and Nilsson et al. (1997).

Table 2

Overview of the Design of the Betula Prospective Cohort Study

Time of test occasion	Sample	Age (of par	ticipar	nt at te	st occ	Age of participant at test occasion								Total n of participants
1988-1990 = T1	S1	35°³	40°4	45°5	50°	55°7	800°8	65 ^{c3}	70°10	75°11	80°12				1000
1993-1995 = T2	S1 S3 S3	40°3 40°3 35°2	45° 45° 40°	50°5 50°5 45°4	55° 55° 50°	60° ⁷ 60° ⁷ 55° ⁶	65°° 65°° 60°°	70°° 70°° 65°°	75°10 75°10 70°10	80°11 80°11 75°11	85°12 85°12 80°12				1000 1000 1000
1998-2000 = T3	S1 S2 S4	45 ⁶³ 40 ⁶² 35 ⁶¹	50° ⁴ 50° ⁴ 45° ³ 40° ²	55°5 50°4 50°4 45°3	60° 60° 55° 50°	65°7 65°7 60°6 55°5	70°8 70°8 65° ⁷ 60° ⁶	75°³ 75°³ 70°³ 65°	80°10 80°10 75°3 70°8	85°¹¹ 85°¹¹ 80°¹⁰ 75°³	90°12 90°12 85°11 80°10	85°11	90°12		1000 1000 1000 1100
2003-2005 = T4	S3 S5	35°° 35°°	40°¹ 45°² 40°¹	45°² 50°³ 45°²	50°3 55°4 50°3	55°4 60°5 55°4	60°5 65°6 60°5	65°° 70° ⁷ 65°°	70° ⁷ 75° ⁸ 70° ⁷	75°° 80°° 75°°	80°° 85°°° 80°°	85°10	90°11	95°12	610 706 613

Note. Year of birth: c0 = 1969, c1 = 1964, c2 = 1959, c3 = 1954, c4 = 1949, c5 = 1944, c6 = 1939, c7 = 1934, c8 = 1929, c9 = 1924, c10 = 1919, c11 = 1914, c12 = 1909. This table is a modified version based on Nilsson et al. (1997).

Table 3 Characteristics of Participants in Sample S1, S2, and S3

		S1			S2			S3	
Age group	35-45	50-60	65-85	35-45	20-60	65-85	35-45	20-60	65-85
~	299	296	393	285	285	376	194	280	436
% female	52	53.3	53.5	20	53.7	59.4	51	52	61.8
Age (years) <i>M</i>	40	55	72.5	40	22	72.5	42.5	55	74.3
<i>OS</i>		(4.01)	(2.60)	(4.09)	(4.09)	(2.59)	(2.51)	(4.09)	(6.83)
Education (years)									
M		9.4	7.8	13.2	10.7	7.8	13.6	10.7	7.6
QS	(3.53)	(3.47)	(3.03)	(3.01)	(3.85)	(3.41)	(3.09)	(3.76)	(4.73)
Sibship size									
M	3.4	4.6	5.7	3.4	4.1	5.7	3.4	4.2	2.7
QS	(1.87)	(2.65)	(3.24)	(1.83)	(2.57)	(6.41)	(1.58)	(2.59)	(3.11)
Birth order									
M	2.3	2.8	3.3	2.3	2.7	3.3	2.3	2.9	3.3
as	(1.59)	(2.24)	(5.56)	(1.54)	(2.33)	(2.50)	(1.40)	(3.07)	(2.51)

Table 4
Overview of Tests Assessed by Nurses at 71, 72, and 73

Test occasion 3	Form 1 "Social anamnes" (study I, II, III) Word fragment completion 1	Form 2 "Social anamnes" (study III) Mini-Mental-State	Katz ADL status Word fragment completion 2 Hearing test "FMHT" *	Odour test * CES-D scale * Form "RTQ" smoking *	Health examination Forms "women" *, "critical life events", and "TCI" *
Test occasion 2	Form 1 "Social anamnes" (study I, II, III) Form 2 "Social anamnes" (study III)	Mini-Mental-State SRB: 1 (study I)	Word fragment completion Source recall of facts Form "Critical life events"	Form "SPAQ" * Health examination	1 1
Test occasion 1	Form 1 "Social anamnes" (study I, II, III) Form 2 "Social anamnes" (study III)	Mini-Mental-State SRB: 1 (study I)	Word fragment completion Source recall of facts Health examination	Form "Critical life events" -	1 1
	- 2	ω 4 π	0 / 0	9 11 1	13 2

Note. * A new test is included in the test battery since the last test occasion. Study refers to the studies in the present thesis.

Table 5 Overview of Cognitive Tests

	Test order illustrated by figures	Test occasion	Study
-	Initiation of a later prospective memory test	T1-T4	1
7	Encoding of faces for a later recognition test	T1-T4	Study II
\mathcal{E}	Encoding of names for a later recognition test	T1-T4	Study II
4	Encoding of sentences, first list (enacted/non-enacted)*	T1-T4	Study II
5	Immediate free recall of list of sentences presented in 4	T1-T4	Study II
9	Encoding of sentences, second list (enacted/non-enacted)*	T1-T4	Study II
_	Immediate free recall of list of sentences presented in 6	T1-T4	Study II
∞	Cued recall of nouns in sentences with and without enactment, presented in 4 and 6	T1-T4	Study II
6	Stem completion of surnames presented in 3	T1-T4	. 1
10	Word fluency, letter A	T1-T4	Study I
11	Word fluency, letter M, five-letter words	T1-T4	1
12	Word fluency, letter B, professions	T1-T4	1
13	Word fluency, letter S, five-letter names of animals	T1-T4	ı
14	Free-choice recognition (i.e., yes/no) of faces presented in 2	T1-T4	Study II
15	Forced-choice recognition (i.e., multiple-choice) of names that was presented in 3	T1-T4	Study II
16	Block design test	T1-T4	Study I
17	Free-choice recognition (i.e., yes/no) of nouns, presented in 4 and 6, with or without enactment	T1-T4	Study II
18	Cued recall (categories) of nouns in sentences presented in 4 and 6	T1-T4	Study II
19	Source recall of sentences (i.e., recall if it was an enactment or no enactment) presented in 4 and 6	T1-T4	. '
20	Study of word-list (presented in 20-27). First condition: Full attention during encoding phase and retrieval phase (free recall of nouns) *	T1-T4	Study II
			(Continues)

33

Table 5 Overview of Cognitive Tests (continued)

	Test order illustrated by figures	Test occasion Study	Study
21 22	Free recall of word-list presented in 20 22 Study of word-list. Second condition: Full attention during encoding phase, concurrent task during retrieval phase *	T1-T4 T1-T4	Study II
23 24 25	 Free recall of word-list presented in 22 Study of word-list. Third condition: Concurrent task during encoding phase, full attention during retrieval phase * Free recall of word-list presented in 24 	T1-T4 T1-T4 T1-T4	Study I Study I
26	 Study of word-list. Fourth condition: Concurrent task during encoding phase and during retrieval phase * Pree recall of word-list presented in 26 	T1-T4 T1-T4	1 1
28 29 30 31	Tower of Hanoi Letter digit substitution test Free recall of activities in whole session (i.e., task 1-30) Prospective memory test, presented in 1 Extra memory test (S1T2; S1, S2, S3T3;S1S3,S5T4)	T2-T3 T3-T4 T1-T4 T1-T4 T2-T4	Study II

Note. * = Random assignment of list order. Study refers to the studies in the present thesis. $T_1 = 1988-1990$, $T_2 = 1993-1995$, T3 = 1998-2000, $T_4 = 2003-2005$.

COGNITIVE FUNCTIONS

Memory

Declarative and non-declarative memory

When it comes to the mechanism of memory, studies of amnesia patients reveal strong evidence for a distinction between short-term memory (i.e., capacity-limited) and long-term memory (Squire, 1986). In this thesis I will emphasize long-term memory.

Declarative and non-declarative memories are two forms of long term memory. Declarative memory refers to a conscious act and includes factual knowledge and personal episodes. Non-declarative memory, on the other hand, refers to knowledge that does not require a conscious mind and that includes skills and habits, priming, classical condition, and non-associative learning. Declarative memory contains memory for words, scenes, faces, and stories. This kind of memory is tested in terms of recall and recognition (Squire, 1992). Declarative memory and non-declarative memory operate in different ways and depend on separate brain systems. Declarative memory depends on the hippocampus and related structures, whereas non-declarative is not (Squire, 1993).

In an attempt to learn more of the structure of memory, patients with different types of brain damage have been studied. Cohen and Squire (1980), Brooks and Baddely (1976), and Squire (1994) studied patients that suffered from severe damage on the medial temporal lobes. These studies revealed that patients performed at a normal level compared to healthy people regarding non-declarative memory, but they exhibited severe deficits concerning declarative memory. Amnesic patients are able to learn at a normal rate when it comes to motor skills, perceptuomotor skills, perceptual skills and cognitive skills, but they fail in tasks such as recall and recognition that depend on declarative memory (Squire, 1992). These studies give evidence of the existence of two forms of long-term memory, namely declarative memory and non-declarative memory. These two memory structures require different forms of knowledge.

Memory systems

There is a consensus among memory researchers (e.g., Tulving, 1985; Nyberg & Tulving, 1997) of the existence of multiple memory systems.

In 1985, Tulving argued that memory is composed of procedural memory, episodic memory, and semantic memory. Tulving's (1993) more recent classification of the multiple memory system is procedural memory, perceptual representation system, semantic memory, primary memory, and episodic memory.

Episodic memory can be defined as a system that stores information of episodes or events; in contrast to semantic memory, it even stores the temporal and spatial relationship of that event (Tulving, 1985). This system can be tested in a laboratory setting by conducting miniature events, such as the appearance of words, word pairs, or items (Tulving, 1983). Other traditional tasks applied to the measurement of episodic memory are recall and recognition of sentences and faces (Lewin, Wolgers, & Herlitz, 2001).

By using language and organizing knowledge of the world, a person applies the semantic memory system. *Semantic memory* is knowledge of words, verbal symbols and their meanings, rules, and algorithms. The organisation of knowledge is timeless and can be classified as conceptual (Tulving, 1985).

The memory systems have different diagnostic features regarding information, organisation, operations, and even applications (Tulving, 1984). Hence these systems depend on each other and do not operate completely independent. Episodic memory depends on both procedural and semantic memory to operate, but semantic memory has the ability to function independently of episodic memory, although not of procedural memory (Tulving, 1985).

Episodic and semantic memory differs regarding operations. Episodic memory registers immediate experience and the temporal order of the occurrence of personal events. Retrieval of episodic memory concerns questions regarding events at a specific time and place. Semantic memory registers knowledge about objects, situations, and characteristics. This memory asks "what is". Semantic memory is associated with the subject's knowledge of its world. There is also a difference with respect to formal education where the aim is acquisition, retention of skills, and knowledge of the world. This aim is irrelevant for episodic memory. Semantic memory has a central position in human intelligence, while the episodic memory is unrelated (Tulving, 1985). The systems also differ from each other regarding different types of consciousness. Episodic memory is associated with self-knowing, which allows an individual to be aware of his or her own identity in time that extends from the past to the present and into the future.

Neurologically differentiation

Various correlative studies show that there is a neurologically differentiation between the episodic and semantic system (Nyberg et al., 2003). Activation of the right prefrontal cortex is linked with the episodic memory, in contrast to retrieval of semantic information, which is associated with higher activity in the left prefrontal cortex (Nyberg et al., 1996). However, it is suggested that the structures of medial temporal lobe (MTL) connect the components

of episodic and semantic memories. The specific components are represented in diverse neocortical sites (Squire, 1992). To be more specific, the hippocampus is especially associated with the episodic memory (Cabeza and Nyberg, 2000); while other studies (Dalla Barba et al., 1998) report that the left lateral temporal lobe is associated with the semantic memory system.

Using positron emission tomography (PET), researchers have found a relation between frontal lobes and episodic memory. The found patterns have been reviewed by Nyberg, Cabeza, & Tulving (1996). Regarding encoding of episodic information, the left prefrontal cortex is activated (Nyberg et al. 1996). Other scientists—Tulving, Kapur, Craik, Moscovitch, and Houle (1994)—have associated the left prefrontal cortex with encoding of episodic information and the right prefrontal cortex with retrieval of episodic memory. Much research regarding frontal lobes and episodic memory derive from cognitive neuropsychology, neuroimaging, developmental psychology, and clinical literature.

Other brain areas that are associated with memory are medial temporal (hippocampal) and diencephalic regions (Markowitch, 1995; Markowitch & Pritzel, 1985; Squire, 1987). Wheeler, Stuss, and Tulving (1997) point out that it is not known how these regions are connected to episodic memory processes. More knowledge about what extent the activity of medial temporal and diencephalic structures are involved in episodic memory (autonoetic awareness) is needed. However, it seems like the medial temporal lobes are crucial for the capacity to become noetically aware. Studies of patients with medial temporal damage show that they are grossly impaired regarding attempts to recall recent life episodes or learn new semantic facts.

However, Kramer et al. (2005) note that both the hippocampus and the frontal lobes contribute to episodic memory, although the contributions can be dissociated, where the hippocampus is of more importance for memory accuracy in recall and recognition and frontal structures are more important for the strategic processing and decision-making aspects of recall and recognition. It is worth noting that episodic memory resembles behaviours that require a higher level of control such as complex problem solving. Problem solving is often classified as supervisory or executive functions and requires adaptation to situational demands (Wheeler, Stuss, & Tulving, 1997).

Memory systems and gender

According to Nilsson (2003), the episodic memory system is unique in the sense that it is the only memory system where women perform at a higher level than men throughout the adult life span (e.g., Herlitz, Airaksinen, &

Nordström, 1999; Herlitz, Nilsson, & Bäckman, 1997; Maitland et al., 2004; Nilsson et al., 2004).

Herlitz, Airaksinen, and Nordström (1999) reported that women outperform men on most verbal episodic memory tasks. This cannot fully be explained by women's performance on verbal production tasks. Women outperform men on some episodic memory tasks with visuospatial components. Some authors (e.g., Berenbaum, Baxter, Seidenberg, & Hermann, 1997; Herlitz, Nilsson, & Bäckman, 1997; Schaie, & Willis, 1993) have reported that women outperform men on word recall. There are also reports of advantages for women regarding word recognition, recall of words (focused and divided attention), story recall, face and name recall and recognition, recall of subject performed tasks and real-life activities, spatial recall, picture recall, and odour recognition (for a review, see Herlitz, Airaksinen, & Nordström, 1999).

The study by Herlitz, Airaksinen, and Nordström (1999) found that women performed at a higher level than men in face recognition, recall of activities, and recall of newly acquired facts. According to this study memory performance is consistent across different materials as well as for encoding and retrieval conditions. The authors did not find any differences between men and women regarding tasks assessing semantic memory, primary memory, or priming.

Memory systems and aging

The separate memory systems function differently in normal aging. Mitchell (1989) points out that studies that reveal that the memory systems are affected differently by aging are support by the theory of separate memory systems. According to several authors (e.g., Mitchell, 1989; Naveh-Benjamin, Hussain, Guez, & Bar-on, 2003; Nilsson, 2003; Nyberg et al., 2003; Rönnlund, Nyberg, Bäckman, & Nilsson, 2003), episodic memory is unique for its sensitivity to aging (see also Craik & Jennings, 1992; Light, 1991).

Data show that there are clear age deficits in the episodic memory system that is not to be found in the semantic memory system. The age-related deficit is generally observed in older adults (Kausler, 1994; Smith, 1996). The results of Nyberg et al. (2003) showed that the age deficit was more pronounced for recall (highly sensitive for aging) than for recognition (less sensitive for aging). Other literature (Schonfield & Roberson, 1966) supports the finding that recognition memory remains relatively stable. The results of Nyberg et al. (2003) also showed that episodic memory is more sensitive to aging as compared to semantic memory. Studies of brain damage (e.g., Hirst, Johnson, Kim, Phelps, & Volpe, 1986) and brain imaging studies (Cabeza et al., 1997) support the division of recall and recognition. More importantly, the authors (Nyberg et al., 2003) found an

age deficit for the episodic memory that was more pronounced for recall than for recognition.

Several studies (e.g., Naveh-Benjamin, Hussain, Guez, & Bar-on, 2003; Naveh-Benjamin, Guez, Kilb & Reedy, 2004) support the associative-deficit hypothesis (ADH) developed by Naveh-Benjamin (2000). This theory states that poorer episodic memory in older adults depends on deficiency in making and retrieving links between units of information. Older adults perform better when connections already exist in memory between the components of the episodes that are used.

Cabeza, McIntosh, Tulving, Nyberg, and Grady (1997) studied agerelated differences in encoding and recall; they found a lateralized pattern in young participants. However, activation and path analysis showed that this pattern does not hold in old age. One hypothesis is that the involvement of the left prefrontal area in old adults (during recall) may be a sign of functional reorganization.

Hertzog, Dixon, Hultsch, and MacDonald (2003) reported that changes that occur in episodic memory were correlated with changes in speed and working memory. This result agrees with the processing resource theory that claims that age changes in complex cognitive performance are due to age changes in basic information processing capacities and other mechanisms that are of importance for executing complex cognitive operations (Salthouse, 1991). The results of Hertzog, Dixon, Hultsch, and MacDonald (2003) support the processing resource theory.

Moreover, the results of Hertzog et al. (2003) agree with previous cross-sectional data because it was found that there was a correlate of changes in working memory with changes in episodic memory stronger than with changes in perceptual speed. Although these findings even suggest a stronger connection between processing of speed and memory changes than had been reported before, the authors point out that change in speed and working memory are not sufficient to account for episodic memory changes in aging. It is also suggested that there is a third resource that has a potential affect on age-related changes in memory, namely executive functions, including inhibition (Rönnlund, 2003).

Rodgers, Hertzog, and Fisk (2000), on the other hand, argued for an association between working memory and fluid intelligence. However, Hertzog et al. (2003) reported that working memory and fluid intelligence are differently affected by age-related changes (i.e., after age 55) and this result supports the theory of a distinction between working memory and fluid intelligence. The theory proposes that episodic memory changes are not affected by changes in fluid intelligence. Instead the theory emphasizes the importance of age changes in retrieval mechanisms for driving episodic memory changes. The debate about the relationship between working memory and fluid intelligence is further commented below in connection with the summary of Study I.

Working memory

According to Baddeley and Hitch (1974), working memory is not the same as short-term memory. Working memory as a concept replaced the traditional short-term memory. An important difference between these two is that short-term memory is viewed as a passive form of memory in contradiction to working memory that is viewed as an active form of memory. Working memory calculates and manipulates information. In short-term memory, the information can be either encoded into long-term memory or be forgotten (WAIS-III – WMS-III-technical manual, 1997).

One test of executive function in study I emanates from a series of tests to assess working memory. Working memory should be included because of the current debate about the relationship between working memory and intelligence (Ackerman, Beier, & Boyle, 2005; Beier & Ackerman, 2005; Kane, Hambrick, & Conway, 2005; Oberauer, Schulze, Wilhelm, & Süß, 2005). According to several authors (Borella, Carretti, & Mammarella, 2006; de Ribaupierre & Lecert, 2006; Wilhelm & Oberauer, 2006), working memory and intelligence are different but related concepts. Working memory is considered by some authors (Kyllonen & Christal, 1990) to be a critical component of intelligence because of the ability to store and manipulate information.

INTELLIGENCE

Traditional theories

Intelligence is a very general mental capability that, among other things, involves the ability to reason, plan, solve problems, think abstractly, comprehend complex ideas, learn quickly and learn from experience. It is not merely book learning, a narrow academic skill, or test-taking smarts. Rather, it reflects a broader and deeper capability for comprehending our surroundings-"catching on," "making sense" of things, or "figuring out" what to do. (Gottfredson, 1997, p. 13)

There are many alternative definitions and there are many alternative theories of intelligence (e.g., Binet & Simon, 1916; Carroll, 1993; Catell, 1971, 1987; Gardner, 1983, 1999, 2000; Spearman, 1927; Sternberg, 1985; Thurstone, 1938). Only the most influential theories and models will be mentioned in the following.

Early studies of intelligence have focused on identification of a single general factor, which is suggested to underlie performance on tests of mental abilities. Because various subtests of IQ test batteries were found to correlate positively, the view of a single factor theory was enhanced.

Spearman (1927), for example, suggested that intelligence can be explained by postulating a single general intelligence factor (g) and a set of specific factors.

Spearman reasoned that if the existence of a unitary cognitive ability (general intelligence or *g*) gives the individuals the ability to reason and solve problems, it would be possible to construct various problems to measure this ability. If the hypothesis is true, all correlations should be positive. Thus if an individual performs at a high level on one type of cognitive test, the individual should perform well on other types of tests. Later, Spearman found evidence for the existence of several specific factors such as verbal ability, visuo-spatial ability, and numerical ability.

Thurstone (1938), on the other hand, argued that intelligence cannot be explained with one single factor. Instead, Thurstone suggested that intelligence consists of seven factors: verbal comprehension, verbal fluency, inductive reasoning, spatial visualization, number, memory, and perceptual speed. Spearman and Thurstone both used factor analysis to examine which factors underlie intelligence.

Catell (1971) used a hierarchical model to determine a number of factors of intelligence. The author proposed that general intelligence consists of the sub-factors fluid ability and crystallized ability. Fluid ability is defined as accuracy of abstract reasoning and speed regarding novel problems, whereas crystallized ability measure knowledge and vocabulary. At first, the fluid-crystallised theory was used as an argument against the theory of general intelligence.

The most widely accepted psychometric model today is a hierarchy model comprising three strata and is developed by Carroll (1993). Stratum I includes specific abilities, such as spelling and speed of reasoning, while stratum II includes broad abilities, such as fluid intelligence and crystallized intelligence. In addition, there are learning and memory processes, visual perception, auditory perception, facile production of ideas, verbal fluency, and speed. Stratum III is equal to Spearman's "g", just a single general intelligence.

Contrary to the theorists mentioned so far, Ackerman (1988, 2005) argues for an integrative approach that includes various models of cognitive functioning. These models are combined and they function as the basis for intelligence. Breadth of declarative knowledge, breadth of procedural skills, capacity of working memory, and speed of processing are sources that can explain individual differences. The assessments of intelligence most frequently used in schools today are based on the assumption of a unitary mental ability (a single factor) (Lubinski, 2004).

Fluid and crystallized intelligence

Fluid cognitive functioning (gf) is defined as a cognitive process that maintains information (i.e., verbal and visual-spatial) in working memory to plan and execute goal-directed behaviour (Baddely, 1986)

Fluid ability is measured by tests that have little scholastic or cultural content, because prior experience and knowledge are of little use for solving novel problems (Johnson & Gottesman, 2006). Tasks used to measure fluid intelligence is most often verbal tasks (e.g., Johnson & Gottesman, 2006) or tasks like Raven's Progressive Matrices, Number of Series, or Word Analogies (e.g., Garlick & Sejnowski, 2006).

Salthouse and Davis (2006) included WASI Matrix Reasoning Test and the WASI Block Design Test to assess fluid intelligence. However, according to Woodcock (1990), fluid skills are underrepresented in many widely used intelligence tests.

Fluid functioning is distinguishable from crystallized intelligence, although fluid functioning is important for encoding and retrieving crystallized knowledge. Crystallized intelligence (gc) is acquired knowledge available from the long-term memory store (Blair, 2006). It is referred to as combined knowledge that people obtain by education, culture, and experience (Johnson & Gottesman, 2006).

According to Henry and Phillips (2006), the Mill Hill Vocabulary Test (MHVT) is suitable to assess crystallized intelligence. The task requires that the participants identify synonymous word (i.e., choose between sex words closest in meaning to the target word) for each 30-target words. Another routinely used measurement to assess fluid intelligence is the Raven's Progressive Matrices (RPM). The participants are asked to solve 40 visually presented problems. The task was to choose between several possible solutions the correct solution to complete the pattern. Other measurements that can be used to assess crystallized intelligence are WASI Vocabulary Test, WASI Similarities Test (Salthouse & Davis, 2006), and WAIS (Ashton et al. 2001).

Aging and intelligence

According to the literature (Raven, 1948; Thurstone & Ackerson, 1929; Wohlwill, 1970; Anderson, 2005), the growth curve of mental performance always improves each year. In order words, intelligence develops with age. The grow curve is faster in childhood in comparison with adolescence where the growth cure slows down. However, it does not seem like this increase of improvement continues throughout the life span.

In cognitive aging, the distinction of fluid cognition and crystallized intelligence has been established due to the evidence that fluid cognition is affected by aging. One possible explanation is an alteration in the

neurobiology of the prefrontal cortex (PFC). In addition, the processing of information in the PFC may be less efficient. Crystallized intelligence shows greater stability compared to fluid cognition (Schaie, 1994).

Bugg, Zook, DeLosh, Davalos, and Davis (2006) observed age-related declines in fluid intelligence (i.e., block design, and matrix reasoning), speed of processing (i.e., simple reaction time tasks), and frontal function (i.e., Wisconsin Card Sorting Test). The authors concluded that the decline in fluid intelligence depends on general slowing and frontal decline. The authors speculate with support from the literature (e.g., Salthouse, 1991) that a decline in working memory ability may also contribute to the age effect on fluid intelligence. Losses of working memory capacity and speed influence problem solving (Diehl, Willis, & Schaie, 1995).

Several other scientists (e.g., Raven et al., 1987; Salthouse, 1991) have reported that fluid intelligence is affected by aging, with a decline in performance as a consequence. There is no consensus among scientists about the specific age of the decline, but it is suggested that there may be a slow decrease after age 40 (Salthouse, 1992, 1996, 2005). However, when crystallized intelligence is measured, as for example vocabulary, a significant age advantage is often found (e.g., Verhaeghen, 2003). It seems as if crystallized cognitive abilities increase all through the life span (Salthouse, 1992, 1996, 2005).

Gender and intelligence

According to Colom and García-Lópes (2002), there is contradictory evidence regarding whether there is differences between the sexes in general intelligence. The authors define fluid intelligence as the core of intelligent behaviour and concluded there is no sex difference in fluid intelligence, although their results showed that females outperform males in the PMA reasoning test and that males performed at a higher level than females in the Raven test. Their conclusion was based on the fact that the data revealed no systematic difference, and, more importantly, that the Culture-Fair Test, according to the authors the finest available representation of fluid intelligence, did not reveal sex differences.

The results demonstrated that reasoning performance can be affected by the information content, where the use of a single verbal content, such as a series of letters, gives females an advantage over males. However, using a single figural content such as Raven gives males an advantage over females.

Genetic or environmental effects?

It has been a standing debate among scientists whether genetics (i.e., inherited DNA differences among individuals) or environmental factors are the major influence on intelligence. The nature-nurture pendulum has

swung back and forth among various influential scientists (e.g., William James and Francis Galton), the rediscovery of Mendel's laws, the emergence of behaviourism, and animal research (Plomin & Petrill, 1997), along with studies that examine the association between the genetic link between individuals and general intelligence (e.g., McGue et al., 1993; Rowe, 1999). These latter studies reported greater association genetics and IQ (e.g., McGue et al., 1993; Rowe, 1999). Bouchard and McGue (1981) reported a correlation between genetics and two individual IQ scores. Identical twins reared together received the highest correlation followed by identical twins reared apart. Both variables had a median correlation above 0.7. These kinds of studies support the view that genetics plays a crucial role in intelligence.

With this in mind, several authors argue that general intelligence is inherited rather than significantly affected by environmental factors (e.g., Bouchard, 1998; Plomin & Petrill, 1997; Plomin, DeFries, McClearn, & McGuffin, 2001). Some researchers believe environmental factors—such as parents' education and income and child-rearing style—have a minor effect on intelligence (Gottfredsson, 2004).

Twin and adoption studies (e.g., Bailey, Kirk, Zhu, Dunne, & Martin, 2000; Bouchard & McGue, 1981; Bouchard & Pedersen, 1999; Loehlin, 1989; Pedersen et al., 1992) have examined whether genetics significantly influences intelligence. Many researchers have concluded that genetics significantly influences intelligence. Model-fitting analyses that attempt concurrent analyses of all twin and adoption studies reveal that heredity (i.e., describes the proportion of observed differences that can be attributed to genetics) accounts for 50% of the variance. Since it is rare for the behavioural science to explain 5% of the variance, this is a major discovery.

Since heritability is suggested to explain 50% of the intelligence variance, 50% remains to be explained with no genetic influences (e.g., parenting styles, nutrition, and illness). It is suggested that shared environment (i.e., studies of adoptive siblings) accounts for 25% of the variance (Plomin & Petrill, 1997).

Of special interest for this thesis are developmental genetic analyses that show how genetic factors increasingly affect intelligence throughout the life span. It seems that that the influence of genetics increases with age. Plomin and Petrill (1997) compiled the explained variance of heritability reported in several studies (McGue, Bouchard, Iacono, & Lykken, 1993; Plomin, 1986; Pedersen, Plomin, Nesselroade, & McClearn, 1992). The patterns viewed an increase of heritability: 40% (childhood), 60% (early adulthood), and 80% (in later life–"60 years").

The influence of genetics on intelligence is also reported by McGue et al. (1993) and Brody (1993): they found that identical twins become increasingly similar over the life span. In a study of older adoptive siblings, however, Loehlin, Horn, and Willerman (1989) suggest that shared family

environment has a negligible influence on intelligence after adolescence. These results leave several questions to be answered: What are these shared environmental factors that are important in childhood, and why does their influence disappear by late adolescence? What are the non-shared environmental factors responsible for the long-term influence of the environment on IQ scores? Why are children growing up in the same family so different environmentally? (Plomin & Petrill, 1997, p.64). The effect of family factors (e.g., parents' education and income, and childrearing) disappears almost completely with age (Gottfredson, 2004).

Presently, there is a consensus that both nature and nurture influence intelligence (Plomin & Petrill, 1997; Turkheimer et al., 2003).

EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS

The executive functions may be related to the frontal lobes. For example, Shallice (1982) thought that the frontal lobes have an important role for planning, organizing, and controlling action. This reasoning is supported by recent neuropsychological findings (e.g., Bryan & Luszcz, 2001; Miyake, Emerson, & Friedman, 2000; Salthouse et al., 2003). The functions may "control processes responsible for planning, assembling, coordinating sequencing, and monitoring cognitive operations" (Salthouse, Atkinson, & Berish, 2003, p 566).

Some authors (e.g., Miyake et al., 2000; Shallice, 1988) argue that the core of mainstream conceptualizations of executive functioning is the capacity for mental flexibility, and the skills to avoid repetitive and perseverative behaviour. Rabbitt (1997) defines executive functions as a broad group of cognitive activities such as handling new tasks, planning and initiating strategies, monitoring performance, using feedback to adjust strategies, and ignoring information that is irrelevant for the task.

Neurologically differentiation

According to Nyberg et al. (2003), previous studies have mostly focused on the role of specific prefrontal cortex (PFC) regions, in specific cognitive domains, and that more recent studies have reported similarities across cognitive domains. Nyberg et al. (2003) examined similarities in brain activities and their results showed that certain processes are common with regard to several different tests, such as working memory, episodic memory, and semantic memory. The data suggested that there were four PFC regions—left frontopolar cortex, left mid-ventrolateral PFC, left mid-dorsolateral PFC, and dorsal anterior cingulated cortex—that contribute to all memory tasks. It is worth noting that the functional accounts of these regions are associated with executive processing/cognitive control.

Therefore, one explanation for similarities across memory tasks is that all of the tasks involved increased demands on executive processing. The results are in line with the view of multiple processing components.

Tasks

Tasks such as card sorting, the stroop-test, word fluency (i.e., in the past classified as semantic measures), and Tower of Hanoi have been used to measure executive functions (Rönnlund, 2003). Many tasks may depend on frontal lobes. Verbal fluency and the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) are most consistently shown to be impaired in patients with frontal lobe damage. The verbal fluency task (i.e., generating words that begin with letter "A" for 1 minute) is associated with the frontal lobe. Patients with extensive frontal lobe damage find this task extremely difficult to perform. The task is suggested to be too complicated for the subject to execute because there is no automatic program to be relied on. Instead the patient must choose and run his or her own retrieval strategies and make sure the items are not repeated. The problem is not associated with memory in general, but how to control the retrieval strategy (Baddeley, 1997).

It is important to note that there is a link between executive functions and working memory. More specifically, executive functioning is related to the central executive, a component of the working memory (Baddeley (1997).

The central executive is activated during more demanding working memory tasks. It is the central executive that rules and integrates information and selects and initiates strategies for performance (Baddeley, 1997). The central executive of working memory and the construct of executive function share some attributes because both are thought to control and integrate cognitive activity (Baddeley, 1997; Luszcz & Bryan, 1999). It is difficult to make a clear comparison between executive function and central executive of working memory, although the executive function is generally explained as a broader construct than the central executive.

Notably, performance of executive functions may reflect general intellectual ability (Obonsawin et al., 2002), but little is still known about similarities and differences between these two domains.

Study I tests executive function using a series of tests developed by Baddeley et al. (1984) to assess working memory. In this task, participants are presented with a list of words and are asked to recall as many of these words as possible immediately after presentation. Concurrently with the encoding of these words, participants sort a deck of cards in one black and one red pile. The verbal fluency task requires generation of multiple responses under constrained search conditions. It involves associative exploring and retrieval of words that are either based on phonemic or semantic criteria under time restriction (Henry & Phillips, 2006).

What makes the executive functioning especially interesting in the present context is its relevance for adult age differences in cognitive functioning. Thus executive function is assumed to be related to the frontal lobes and to various age-related cognitive deficits. It is known that both frontal and temporal lobe structures are affected by aging (Raz et al., 2004). Henry and Phillips (2006) have suggested a theory of cognitive aging called fronto-executive theory. The theory predicts that aging is linked to the disproportionate atrophy in the anterior region of the brain. This leads to deficit on tasks that involve executive processes.

Henry and Phillips (2006) detected no age effect for the total output on the semantic fluency. However, their data revealed that older adults generated significantly more responses compared to younger adults on the phonemic measure, although this age benefit was significantly attenuated when crystallized intelligence was entered as a control variable.

In a literature review, Henry and Phillips (2006) noted that age effects are inconsistent. Several studies (e.g., Capitani et al., 1999; Kempler et al., 1998; Phillips, 1999) documented that fluency performance is negatively related to aging and that there is evidence of age-related decline starting at 50 years old. Other studies (e.g., Bolla et al., 1990; Crawford et al., 2000; Miller, 1984), however, have reported no age effect on verbal fluency. It has also been reported (e.g., Parkin & Walter, 1991; Veroff, 1980; Yeudall et al., 1986) that there is a positive link between age and performance in fluency. One possible explanation to the inconsistent results of age effects in phonemic and semantic fluency may due to the contribution of fluid (i.e., generating novel search strategies) and crystallized abilities (i.e., knowledge of vocabulary).

FAMILY CONFIGURATION AND HEALTH

As a result of natural declines and choices of life style, people will gradually change physically (see Burns, 2000; Katz & Marshall, 2003). Most people become aware of these physical changes in the middle adulthood (40-60-years of age). A gain in weight, for example, can often be explained with lifestyle choices, and such a change is often followed by declines in strength. Sixty-year old people tend to have lost, on average, around 10 percent of their strength (see Troll, 1985). Some chronic diseases, such as arthritis, diabetes, and hypertension begin after age 40, between age 50 and 60, and in the middle age, respectively (Smedley & Syme, 2000). However, most people are healthy during middle age, experiencing no chronic diseases. Scientists (e.g., Sterns, Barrett, & Alexander, 1985) have even reported that this age group is less likely, in comparison with younger adults, to suffer

from infections, allergies, respiratory diseases, and digestive problems. This is because people have experienced these diseases in younger adulthood and developed immunity. Several other scientists (e.g., Friedman, Berman, & Hamberger, 1993; Johnson, 2003; McGuinness, 1972) have reported natural physical declines caused by aging. The brain grows in size and weight until it slowly begins to decline after its peak during early adulthood (Johnson, 2003).

In late adulthood the amount of space between the brain and skull increases significantly. The blood flow within the brain will be reduced and the brain uses less oxygen and glucose (see Wickelgren, 1996; Tisserand & Jolles, 2003). The reduced capacity of the heart to pump blood throughout the circulatory system partly causes the reduced flow of blood in the brain (Kart, 1990). The changes in the functioning of various systems of the body are partly connected to life styles. The natural process of aging often occurs earlier in individuals living less healthy life styles (see Mitchell, Haan, & Steinberg, 2003; Hunter, McCarthy, & Bamman, 2004). Common physical disorders in late adulthood are heart disease, cancer, and stroke, along with infectious diseases (Feinberg, 2000).

In late adulthood individuals are more at risk for developing psychological and mental disorders. The most common mental disorder is dementia, which is a broad category of severe memory impairment. Alzheimer's disease is such a brain disorder that causes memory loss and confusion (Morris & Kopelman, 1986).

There is a link between differences in health and social class. Individuals with low SES are more often suffering from illness and death than individuals with high SES (Hummer, Rogers, & Eberstein, 1998). The association between SES and health may vary in strength depending on the extent a country provides health insurance (Adler et al., 1993). There are several explanations to the relationship between SES and health. First, the occupations are generally more dangerous (e.g., mining, construction work) in households with lower SES. Also, inferior health care coverage is inferior, and crime and environmental pollutants are generally more frequent in those neighbourhoods with a higher rate of low-income families (Fingerhut & Makuc, 1992; Dahl & Birkelund, 1997). There is evidence that the link between SES and health is valid through the lifespan, although the strength and nature of this association varies (Lynch, Kaplan, & Salonen, 1997).

With this in mind, we might expect that family configuration may function as a predictor of common chronic adult diseases. Early-life environment (e.g., number of siblings, birth order, mother's age, and residence before age 18 years), however, has an effect on growth and maturation of children and adolescents. As a consequence, early-life environment is associated to many adult chronic diseases, such as heart disease, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus (Moceri et al., 2000).

Studies have shown a strong association between sibship size and asthma, atopic eczema, hay fever, and allergy markers (Karmaus & Johnson, 2005). There is also evidence that sibship size and birth order strongly influence early-life infection patterns. Since infectious agents have been considered as a component causing prostate cancer, it is possible that there may be a link between family structure and prostate cancer (Nomura & Kolonel, 1991). It is also suggested that diabetes type I may show similar patterns (Karmaus & Johnson, 2005).

Despite these studies, more studies need to examine the association between sibship size and diseases. This thesis explores the role of sibship size and birth order for the following diseases: Infarction of the heart and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension. A short presentation of these diseases follows.

Infarction of the heart and circulatory disorders

In Sweden, 30 000 individuals suffer from infarction of heart (cardiac infarct, coronary artery disease) each year. Mortality of acute cardiac infarct is 15% at the hospital—2.5% for women and 1.2% for men. Outside the hospital these figures are higher. Cardiac infarct is a disease that occurs when the blood supply to the heart is interrupted. This can cause death of the heart tissue (necrosis) in the myocardium. Necrosis can be caused by a blood clot that blocks blood flow to a vessel. Acute cardiac infarct can be diagnosed if at least two of the following three criteria are fulfilled: chest pain with or without radiation characteristics, release of biochemical markers, and change in ECG (Rehnqvist & Lundman, 1999).

Stroke

Stroke is a designation of a group of diseases that depend on changes in blood vessels in the brain, vessels leading to the brain, or changes in the heart. Therefore, stroke is a member of the group of cerebrovascular diseases (CVS), which includes conditions with focal cerebral ischemia. The consequences of ischemia are brain infarct or transient ischemic attack and intracranial bleedings. Most common of all strokes are brain infarct (85%), (10%)followed bv intracerebral haematoma and subharachnoid haemorrhages (5%). Well-known risk factors for both brain infarct and haematoma are high systolic and diastolic blood pressure, diabetes, smoking, high S-cholesterol, overweight (i.e., men >65 years), acute alcohol intoxication, and heart diseases.

It has been reported a link between developing CVS and age, where the mean age for CVS is around 70 years. The statistics for CVS show around 200 to 300 cases per 100 000 habitants per year. CVS can cause lasting

disabilities in adults, but it can also lead to death. Heart infarct and cancer, followed by CVS are the most common cause of death among diseases (Nilsson & Norrving, 1999).

Hypertension

In line with WHO's recommendation, the definition of hypertension is repeated blood pressure >140 mm Hg systolic and, or >90 mm Hg diastolic. Hypertension ranges from malign hypertension with complications in the brain, eyes, heart, kidneys, and peripheral vessels to an uncomplicated mild hypertension. Moderate/severe hypertension is therefore defined as repeated blood pressure above 105 mm Hg diastolic, while mild hypertension is defined as lack of hypertension and with a repeated diastolic blood pressure of 90-104 mm Hg.

The characteristics of hypertension are often asymptomatic. In cases of a symptomatic hypertonic, the condition is often severe. The problem with high blood pressure is the severe complications (e.g., cardiovascular diseases such as stroke, coronary disease, and peripheral vascular disease) followed by hypertension. Risk factors for developing complications vary with magnitude of blood pressure, age, gender, effects on organs, other diseases (e.g., cardiac infarct, kidney disease, and diabetes mellitus), and other risk factors for cardiovascular diseases (e.g., smoking and disturbed glucose metabolism). All these factors increase the risk for complications.

Research has not yet been able to explain the mechanisms underlying hypertension. However, both heredity and environmental factors seem to underlie the development of hypertension. There is a weak association between the following factors and hypertension: obesity, stress, and high consumption of salt and alcohol. Suffering from high blood pressure is very common, and especially for individuals above 50 years of age. At age 70 years and above over 50% of the population are suffering from hypertension (Berglund, 1996).

THEORETICAL MODELS OF LIFE SPAN DEVELOPMENT

Focusing on adults and old-old participants, this thesis attempts to establish the effects of childhood family configuration and their influence across the adult life span. Therefore, it is of interest to briefly mention established theoretical perspectives on life span development.

There are several scholars (e.g., Colarusso & Nemiroff, 1981; Eriksson, 1963; Labouvie, 1986, 1990; Perry, 1970, 1981; Schaie, 1977/1978; Schaie et al., 1989; Schaie & Willis, 1993; Sinnott, 1998; Vygotsky, 1986) that examine

the development across a life span from a psychodynamic, cognitive, or evolutionary perspective.

Eriksson (1963), for one, implemented a psychosocial theory, which included these following stages of life development: Trust vs. mistrust (birth to 1.5-year-olds); autonomy vs. shame and doubt (1.5 to 3-year-olds); initiative vs. guilt (3 to 6-year-olds); industry vs. inferiority (6 to 12-year-olds); identity vs. identity confusion (adolescence); intimacy vs. isolation (early adulthood); generativity vs. stagnation (middle adulthood); and ego-integrity vs. despair (late adulthood). Each stage represents a crisis/conflict that must be solved. The concept behind this theory is the existence of developmental changes throughout the life span.

Piaget argued that cognitive development is divided into stages: Sensorimotor stage (birth to 3-year-olds); preoperational stage (3 to 6- year-olds); concrete operational stage (6 to 12-year-olds); and formal operations stage (12 to 20-year-olds) (Masling & Bornstein, 1996). According to this theory, cognitive development develops during these stages and stays stable after formal operation, which is the final stage that occurs during adolescence although people can gather more experience after the final stage is reached. That is, the way of thinking or changes in the acquisition and understanding of new information does not change.

Several scientists (Labouvie-Vief, 1986, 1990; Perry, 1970, 1981; Schaie, 1977/1978; Schaie et al., 1989; Schaie & Willis, 1993) argue that changes should be thought of qualitatively during early adulthood. Schaie (1977/1978), for example, believes that thinking continues to develop during the adult life span. Schaie's focused on how information was used during adulthood. The acquisitive stage (acquire new information) is the first stage of cognitive development and is reached during childhood and adolescence. Young adults are in the achieving stage, which means that they apply their intelligence to specific situations involving attaining long-term goals (e.g., careers, and family). During middle adulthood, people reach the executive stage (involving a broader perspective such as concern about the world) and the responsible stage (focusing on personal situations involving taking care of spouses, families, and careers). The last stage is reached during late adulthood. In the Reintegrative stage, people focus on issues that have personal meaning and on issues that is of interest to them.

According to several scientists (e.g., Labouvie-Vief, 1980, 1986, 1990; Sinnott, 1998; Perry, 1970, 1981), young adults develop post-formal thought, which goes beyond Piaget's formal operations. According to Labouvie-vief, postformal thought assumes that adult predicament can be solved in relativistic terms rather than on purely logical processes. According to Sinnot (1998), post-formal thinkers can take into count real-world considerations when they solve problems and they can acknowledge the existence of several solutions to multiple causes of a situation.

This agrees with Perry's approach (1970, 1981). For Perry, students develop their thinking from a dualistic thinking (i.e., something is right or it is wrong) to a multiple thinking (i.e., knowledge and values are relativistic) during their time in college.

Colarusso and Nemiroff (1981) offered a model of the developmental tasks of adulthood. In adulthood (20-40 years), people face, for example, responsibility for one's own body, deciding whether to have children, having and relating to children, establishing adult relationships with parents, acquiring marketable skills, choosing a career, using money to further development, and assuming a social role. In the middle adulthood (40-60 years), people face new developmental tasks such as dealing with body changes or illness and altered body image, changes in sexuality, living through illness and death of parents, redefining relationship to spouse or partner, consolidating work identity, and transmitting skills and values to the young. In the late adulthood (60- above) people may face adapting to physical infirmities or permanent impairment, losses of partner and friends, of children grandchildren, retirement, role and companionship vs. isolation. Havighurst (1979) proposed a similar model of developmental tasks that need to be sequentially mastered. The stages range from infancy to old age.

In sum, there is a consensus among several scientists (e.g., Eriksson, 1963; Colarusso and Nemiroff, 1981; Havighurst, 1979; Labouvie-Vief, 1980, 1986, 1990; Perry, 1970, 1981; Schaie, 1977/1978; Schaie et al., 1989; Schaie & Willis, 1993; Sinnott, 1998) that developmental growth, as well as change, will continue throughout the life span.

But what about changes regarding socioeconomic status during the life span, which is considered to be linked to education, cognitive outcomes, and health? It has been reported (e.g., Bowen & Bowen, 1999; Prater, 2002) there is an association between educational achievement and socioeconomic status (SES). Students from lower SES homes perform at a lower level on standardized tests of achievement in comparison with students from middle and high SES homes. It has also been observed that the latter complete more school years. It is suggested that the disadvantage of coming from a low SES family may continue to affect school performance from the day they begin school to adolescents since success builds on basic skills learned during the first years of schooling (Phillips, Voran, Kisker, Howes & Whitebook (1994).

SUMMARY OF EMPIRICAL STUDIES

Study I

Holmgren, S., Molander, B., & Nilsson, L.-G. (2006). Intelligence and executive functioning in adult age: Effects of sibship size and birth order. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 18, 138-158.

It is well known that social and environmental factors influence children's later intellectual functioning in life (e.g., Bussey & Bandura, 1999; Erikson, 1963; Fischer & Bidell, 1998; Gibson & Pick, 2000; Siegler; 1998; Vygotsky, 1986). More specifically, some studies (e.g., Zajonc, 1976; 1986, 2001; Zajonc & Markus, 1975) have reported that children who grow up in large families and are born late in birth order show lower scores on intelligence tests as compared to children that have been brought up in smaller families with few siblings and are born earlier in birth order.

Study I examines whether social factors such as sibship size and birth order have a long lasting effect on intelligence and executive functions: Are 35-year-olds to 85-year-olds affected by the rearing conditions they grew up with even though it was a long time since they moved out of the family home?

In addition, Study I explores whether age and sex would interact with sibship size and birth order. Gender is a factor that may affect cognitive performance, and empirical studies performed by Herlitz, Nilsson, & Bäckman, (1997) and Maitland, Herlitz, Nyberg, Bäckman, & Nilsson, (2004) have revealed, in general, a female superiority in verbal tasks and a male advantage in spatial tasks.

A third aim was to extend the test of measurements to include intelligence tests as well as executive function tests. Intelligence was assessed by two tests, namely block design and word comprehension. Executive function was assessed using working memory and verbal fluency tasks.

The fourth and last aim of the study was to control for variables likely to confound the effect of sibship size and birth order on the cognitive measurements. A factor known to affect cognitive performance is the health status of the participants (e.g., Bäckman et al., 2004; Lee, Kawachi, Berkman, & Grodstein, 2003). Therefore, participants with dementia, heart attack, circulation disorders, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes are excluded from the study. Another factor to control for is socioeconomic status. As reported by Blake (1981, 1989) and Downey (1995, 2001), lower socioeconomic status is associated with larger families (e.g., more children). In an attempt to control for this factor, education was applied as a proxy for socioeconomic status.

With the intention to control for education as well as age, it was necessary to divide the participants into three age groups: middle age (35-45 years), young-old (50-60 years), and old-old (65-85 years). It was also necessary to divide the participants into three groups of sibship size: 1-2 siblings, 3-4 siblings, and 5-16 siblings. The same was done for birth order: born first, born second to third, and born fourth to fifteenth. The data originated from sample S1T1 (i.e., sample 1 at test occasion 1), S2T2 (i.e., sample 2 at test occasion 2), and S3T2 (i.e., sample 3 at test occasion 2). Three samples were selected to receive enough participants and enhance statistical power.

We expected that sibship size and birth order should influence word comprehension rather than block design or any of the executive function measures, since a larger correlation between family configuration and language/verbal tasks than for spatial/reasoning tasks (Marjoribanks, 1976a, 1976b) has been observed. Furthermore, if the data reveal any effects of sibship size and birth order, we anticipated these effects to be found in the younger rather than the older participants. This is based on the assumption that effects of shared family environment on cognitive functions should decrease as chronological age increases (Plomin et al., 2001). Finally, we expected women to outperform men in the working memory and fluency tasks and men to outperform women in the block design task (see Herlitz, Nilsson, & Bäckman, 1997; Halpern & LaMay, 2000; Voyer, Voyer, & Bryden, 1995).

The results exposed a sibship size effect for executive function and for intelligence. Regarding birth order, data revealed effects on executive functions, specifically on working memory, where the participants born earlier performed better than participants that were born later in the birth order range. After controlling for education, a proxy for socioeconomic status, a sibship size effect was demonstrated for executive functions, particularly working memory. Furthermore, earlier-born individuals performed better in tests assessing executive functioning (working memory) than later-born individuals. Regarding the tests assessing intelligence, there were no effects of sibship size or birth order.

Study II

Holmgren, S., Molander, B., & Nilsson, L.-G. (in press). Episodic memory in adult age and effects of sibship size and birth order: Longitudinal data. *Journal of Adult Development*.

In Study I (Holmgren et al., 2006), it was shown that intelligence and executive functions varied as a function of sibship size and birth order. These results agreed with the confluence model (e.g., Zajonc, 1976, 1986, 2001; Zajonc & Markus, 1975), which states that sibship size and birth

order are crucial factors for performance on intelligence tests. Given these findings, it is proposed that the effects of family structure (viz. sibship size and birth order) should be considered in studies of life span development of cognitive function.

Study II examines the range of effects further and whether the effects obtained in Study I hold for episodic memory as well. Because Holmgren et al. (2006) showed that the effects of sibship size on executive functioning was strongest in the age group 65 to 85 years of age, it is of interest to see whether sibship size and birth order interact with age in episodic memory. We also expected recall to be more sensitive to aging as compared to recognition (Nyberg et al., 2003). As pointed out above, women perform at a higher level than men on episodic memory tasks (e.g., Herlitz, Airaksinen, & Nordström, 1999; Maitland et al., 2004; Nilsson et al., 2004) and therefore sex of the participants was included as a factor. More importantly, the results from the Holmgren et al. (2006) suggest that the effects of family structure may be especially strong in interactions with age and sex of the participants.

Another aim of this study was to examine the patterns of longitudinal data regarding effects of family configuration on episodic memory.

We examined the effects of sibship size and birth order by looking at the subsystems of episodic memory, namely recall and recognition (e.g., Cabeza et al., 1997; Gregg, 1976). The data originate from the Betula Prospective Cohort Study where the test battery for recognition included face recognition, name recognition, and recognition of nouns. Measures of recall included free recall of actions, cued recall of nouns, activity recall, and episodic word recall.

Samples selected for this particular study were S1T1, S2T2, and S3T2. The participants of S1T1 were tested between 1988 and 1990. However, the participants of S2T2 and S3T2 were first tested between 1993 and 1995. All participants were tested a second time after an interval of five years. Of interest was to study healthy participants because diseases are known to affect cognitive performance (e.g., Bäckman et al., 2003; Nilsson & Söderlund, 2001). Consequently, participants with dementia, heart attack, circulation disorders, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes were excluded from this study.

SES was controlled for by looking at the number of years of education as a proxy. Furthermore, parental age at the time of birth of their children was controlled for. Effect of parental age on children's intelligence score has been reported (e.g., Malaspina et al., 2005).

The present study concluded that sibship size influences both recall and recognition, showing better memory performance for participants belonging to smaller sibship size groups. Control of education within each age group revealed a stronger influence of sibship size on recall than recognition. An effect of birth order was demonstrated on recall, viewing superiority for

first-born children. After controlling for education within each age group, the strongest effect of birth order was demonstrated on recall in the old-old age group.

Study III

Nilsson, L.-G., Holmgren, S., Nilsson, E., Bergman, L.R., & Molander, B. (2007). Sibship size and birth order as predictors of heart-related diseases. Manuscript submitted for publication.

The main objective in Study III was to explore the role of sibship size and birth order for adult chronic diseases such as myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension. Studies within this domain are largely lacking, although there are several studies reporting a strong relationship for example between sibship size and allergy (Karmaus & Botezan, 2002).

The data emanates from the Betula Prospective Cohort Study (see Nilsson et al., 1997, 2004) and the information is based on self-reports. The criterion for participating in this study is that the participants either should have consulted a doctor for any of these diseases or have been treated for any of the diseases at a hospital. Data for sibship size were available for 2873 participants in the ages of 35, 40, 45,..., 80 years, conducted on samples S1T1, S2T2, and S3T2.

Logistic regressions were performed with sibship size and birth order as continuous independent variables with proper control for the following variables: age, sex, education (proxy for socioeconomic status), parental age at birth of participants, and lifestyle (alcohol consumption and smoking).

The analyses revealed a significant main overall effect of sibship size (p<.001) for all diseases (myocardial/circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension) before entering the covariates into the analyses. When controlling for age, sex, education, parental age at time of birth of participant, and life style the effect of sibship size diminished. Birth order showed a different pattern, revealing a significant main overall (p<.001) on stroke, but not for cardiovascular disease and hypertension. Only a tendency for the effect of birth order on stroke remained after control of covariates (p<.10).

In conclusion, these overall results suggest that being born in a large sibship configuration is a risk factor for developing myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension. Being born early in a sibship might be a risk factor for stroke.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Family configuration effects on life-span development

One new and important finding of the present studies is that sibship size is a predictor of cognitive performance in healthy individuals in adulthood and old age. The data show a decreasing performance in tests assessing intelligence and executive functions as sibship size increases. These observed patterns are in line with previous studies of children and adolescents (e.g., Anastasi, 1956; Berglund, Eriksson, & Westerlund, 2005; Belmont & Marolla, 1973; Berbaum & Moreland, 1980, 1985; Bjerkedal, Kristensen, Skjeret, & Brevik, 2007; Blake, 1981; Grotevant, Scarr, & Weinberg, 1977) and with the predictions of the confluence model (e.g., Guo & VanWey, 1999; Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Zajonc, 1976, 2001, Zajonc & Bargh, 1980a, 1980b; Zajonc & Markus, 1975) and the resource dilution theory (e.g., Blake, 1981; Downey, 1995, 2001; Guo & VanWey, 1999; Marjoribanks, 1990). Although these latter models do not make any specific predictions about the effects in adulthood and later part of the life span, the present results replicate and extend the previous findings of children and adolescence and contribute greatly to the knowledge regarding the longlasting effects of social factors.

Most previous research (e.g., Anastasi, 1956; Berglund, Eriksson, & Westerlund, 2005; Belmont & Marolla, 1973; Berbaum & Moreland, 1980, 1985; Bjerkedal, Kristensen, Skjeret, & Brevik, 2007; Blake, 1981; Grotevant, Scarr, & Weinberg, 1977; Markus & Zajonc, 1977; Zajonc, 1976; Zajonc & Bargh, 1980a, 1980b) assesses intelligence by measuring the effects of family configuration. However, it has been suggested (e.g., Zajonc & Markus, 1975) that the confluence model may function as an underlying mechanism for other processes that develop over time. Therefore, a similar pattern for other cognitive functions may be expected. The results of the thesis agree with this prediction, revealing an overall significant main effect of sibship size on recall and recognition. The effects of sibship size show the same trend for both of these subcomponents of episodic memory; that is, memory performance decreases with sibship size.

Does birth order function as a predictor for adult cognitive abilities? In the examination of intelligence and executive function, sibship size revealed a greater influence on performance than birth order. This agrees with previously conducted surveys, which all show a decline in scores due to family size. Family size has proved to give more stable effects over a large variation of samples and tests in comparison to birth order. This latter factor has shown contradictive results (e.g., Bellmont & Marolla, 1973; Berglund, Eriksson, & Westerlund, 2005; Bjerkedal, Kristensen, Skjeret, & Brevik, 2007; Brackbill & Nichols, 1982; Davis, Cahan, & Bashi, 1977;

Galbraith, 1982; Marjoribanks, 1978; Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Zajonc, 1976), or effects have even been difficult to obtain (e.g., Rodgers, Cleveland, van den Oord, & Rowe, 2000; Steelman, 1985; Wichman, Rodgers, & MacCallum, 2006).

The results in this thesis reveal that birth order influences working memory, which is considered to be a subcomponent of executive function. Thus the first-born child performed at a higher level than later-born children. This finding agrees with the prediction of Zajonc, Markus, and Markus (1979) who conclude that results of studies based on adults never show the second born surpassing the first-born. Altogether, these results show weak effects of birth order, a claim that is consistent with the argument put forward by several authors that birth order has a minor effect on intellectual development (e.g., Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Steelman, 1985).

With this in mind, this question comes into relief: Do birth order patterns occur in episodic memory? Our data revealed that birth order influences episodic memory throughout the life span (middle-age to oldold). In general terms, birth order has a greater influence on episodic memory, especially on recall, in comparison to intelligence and executive functions. The overall analysis revealed a main effect of birth order on recall showing impaired performance with ascending birth order. In order words, later-born siblings perform not as well as first-born siblings. These results agree with the prediction of parental attention in the resource dilution theory and the confluence model: early born children get an advantage over later born children (Downey, 2001). The results also agree with the findings of several authors reporting that first-borns have better school grades and show more outstanding performance than later-born children (e.g., Schachter, 1963; Altus, 1965, 1966). However, there is not much support for the theory of tutorship (e.g., Zajonc, 2001; Zajonc & Markus, 1975). On the contrary, birth-order group "1" showed better recall than birth-order group "2-3", and performed as well as group "2-3" in recognition. Finally, both groups performed at a higher level than the "4-15" group. The lack of significance between the first two groups could be seen as evidence for the interpretation of weak support for Zajonc's theory of tutorship.

In Study II, the effects of sibship size and birth order are similar as overall effects are obtained for both factors and the effect size (i.e., eta²); that is, the effects are about the same for both factors. These results call for further examination in order to understand the influence of birth order on different cognitive abilities.

Mechanisms and processes

Studies that have reported a weak link between educational achievements and sibship size have often been conducted in communities with norms that support large families (Downey, 2001). As Pong (1997) argues, the effect of siblings is weak when the state supplements education. The results in this thesis reveal effects of family configuration on cognitive measurements despite the fact that governments in Sweden have been financially supporting the school system for a long time.

Several scientists (e.g., Blake, 1989; Ernst & Angst, 1983; Steelman, 1985) believe that the negative relationship reported between sibship size and intellectual development is spurious. These authors propose that the effect of sibship size is due to one or several unknown factors, which correlate with sibship size, and, consequently, are related to intellectual performance. One such suggested factor is socioeconomic status (e.g., Downey, 1995; Ernst & Angst, 1983; Kennett & Cropley, 1970; Kennett, 1973; Rodgers, 1988; Steelman, 1985). However, the welfare in Sweden has increased steadily over the last 60 years, and class inequalities and income differences have decreased (Hansen, Ringen, Uusitalo, & Erikson, 1993).

In this thesis, we have used education as a proxy for socioeconomic status, although Hansen et al. (1993) suggest that in Scandinavian countries education may not be as good a proxy for SES as commonly believed, as school reforms have created better possibilities and higher likelihood for higher education for all children despite birth order. However, it has also been suggested that child and adult SES are associated. High SES in childhood is a predictor for attaining economic and educational advantages in adulthood (Lynch, Kaplan, & Salonen, 1997).

After controlling for education within each age cohort (middle-age, young-old, and old-old), the results revealed no main effect of sibship size on intelligence or on either subcomponent (block design and word comprehension). However, the data suggest that those participants whose capacity is strongly influenced by age and gender are most affected. Evidence for this is a three-way interaction effect between sibship size, age, and sex, revealing a negative linear effect for men in the oldest age cohort (>65-year-olds) on word comprehension.

Moreover, data revealed no main effect of sibship size on executive function after controlling for education, although working memory showed a significant influence of sibship size in the oldest age cohort. This was not the case for verbal fluency, the other subcomponent. Working memory is thus the most reliable test after controlling for SES. The latter mentioned effect shows the same data patterns as reported in the overall analysis.

After establishing that the effect of sibship size on intelligence and executive function decreased when controlling for education, the next issue

is whether we can expect a similar pattern for recall and recognition. The results once again reveal a main effect of sibship size on both recall and recognition for the oldest age group (65-year-olds to 80-year-olds), and there is a main effect on recall for the young-old group (50-year-olds to 60 year-olds). These results contradict the view of the spurious effect of sibship size put forward by several authors (e.g., Downey, 1995; Ernst & Angst, 1983; Kennett & Cropley, 1970; Kennett, 1973; Rodgers, 1988; Steelman, 1985). Moreover, these results agree with the notion that the effect of the number of siblings partly remain even when socioeconomic is controlled, an effect that is present even though sibship size is negatively related to social class (e.g., Downey, 1995). However, these analyses show that education is still strongly related to effects of family configuration. The effects of sibship size are small in terms of explained variance compared to effects of education or age, although the effects of sibship size reported in this study are similar to the size of effects reported in studies on children and adolescents (e.g., Rodgers, 1984).

The effect of the number of siblings seems to be more stable for episodic memory in comparison to intelligence and executive functions. Will a similar pattern occur for birth order?

Once again, data revealed that episodic memory and the old-old group seems to be most affected by family configuration. The results showed impaired performance with ascending birth order on recall. This effect stays stable even when controlling for education. Furthermore, an interaction between birth order and age appeared when controlling for education and parental age in the middle age group. In addition, there was a birth order/age/sex interaction in the young-old age group that vanished after controlling for education.

In sum, it is evident from the present data that level of education is associated with the effects of family configuration. When education is controlled for, the effects of birth order and sibship size either disappears or is reduced. However, there is a possibility that the effects of sibship size and birth order are underestimated as we control for both education and diseases. There is a correlation around .70 between education and the g factor (e.g., Jencks et al., 1972). One possibility is to consider intelligence as more important for establishing the level of education than vice versa. To take it one step further, level of intelligence may be vital for avoiding diseases (Gottfredson, 2004). If this is true, the obtained effects of family configuration may be underestimated by controlling for education and diseases.

Component dissimilarities

It has been suggested that verbal abilities are more affected by sibship size compared to other measures (e.g., Marjoribanks, 1976a, 1976b; Mercy & Steelman, 1982; Nisbet, 1953a, 1953b; Scott & Nisbet, 1955; Steelman, 1985; Zajonc & Markus, 1975). The results presented in this thesis are interesting in that respect. We found the effects of number of siblings to be significant for executive functions, recall, and recognition, and as strong as the effect for word comprehension, findings that contradict the predictions of several scientists (e.g., Mercy & Steelman, 1982; Nisbet, 1953a, 1953b; Scott & Nisbet, 1955; Steelman, 1985; Zajonc & Markus, 1975.) These findings lead to more questions about the underlying mechanisms of sibship size, as the reports of a stronger association between sibship size and verbal ability, compared to nonverbal ability, has previously been used as evidence for an environmental explanation of the effects of family configuration (e.g., Steelman, 1985). The environmental explanation may still be accurate if sibship size indirectly can affect other cognitive measurements. For example, sibship size influences verbal ability and verbal ability influences performance on intelligence (e.g., Nisbet, 1953, 1953; Scott & Nisbet, 1955).

Our result reports no effects of sibship size on block design, which is a subcomponent of intelligence. This agrees with the first prediction and results reported by scientists (e.g., Mercy & Steelman, 1982) that verbal tests are more sensitive for the impact of sibship size in comparison to block design. Furthermore, there is some support for the suggestion made by Scott and Nisbet (1955) that the effect of sibship size on verbal ability may persist into adult life, although this seems to be true also for other cognitive abilities we have examined.

The findings in the present thesis also suggest that the components of executive functioning are more dissimilar than the components of the intelligence measures regarding effects of family configuration. Especially working memory showed a different pattern than the other three components and acts in a more linear pattern. It is questionable, however, whether verbal fluency is an appropriate measure of executive functions.

Data obtained in the thesis may be seen as support for the statement that working memory and intelligence are different constructs (e.g., Ackerman et al., 2005). Evidence for this view is that the working memory measure differs from the block design and word comprehension measures, which are subcomponents of intelligence.

Recognition seems to be less sensitive for the effects of sibship size and birth order than recall. Both sibship size and birth order have larger influence on recall than on recognition. One explanation is that recognition requires less cognitive demands than recall (e.g., Nilsson, Law, & Tooling, 1988; Nyberg et al., 2003). This is interesting, as we interpret our results as indicating that the effect of sibship size on intelligence and executive

function is strongest for those participants whose prerequisites for managing working memory and fluency tasks are known to be poor. The results also suggest that the effect of sibship size can be demonstrated for those participants whose capabilities in cognitive tasks are strongly affected by age and gender. A similar negative and linear pattern has been revealed for cognitive tasks such as recall and recognition. Based on these findings, we predict that even stronger effects of family configuration can be expected if the cognitive demands are further increased.

We also expected interactions between family configuration and age to occur in recall rather than in recognition assessments. In the literature, episodic tasks have been shown to be especially sensitive to reveal memory impairments in older individuals. However, no interactions involving sibship size and birth order were revealed in the overall analyses, although some interactions occur in the young-old and old-old groups. In line with previous expectations, more interactions occurred in recall than in recognition. However, most of these interactions vanished after control for education. Thus the present thesis contradicts the idea that effects of sibship size and birth order change with age. A possible reason for the variation of influence birth order has on different tasks may be that episodic memory tasks are more sensitive in revealing negative age-related effects in participants in comparison to ordinary intelligence tests (cf. Holmgren et al., 2006).

Scientists claim (e.g., Tooling, 1985) that semantic memory, which is related to intelligence, is more sensitive for formal education than episodic memory, because the aim with education is to acquire skills and knowledge of the world. These facts, in combination with the environmental theories of family configuration, made us expect the measurements of intelligence to be more sensitive for sibship size than episodic memory. The influence on episodic memory makes the results presented in this thesis especially interesting, and further investigations about sibship size, birth order, and episodic memory are certainly justified.

Considering the complex interaction of many variables within the field of family configuration, it makes analyses of causal relations difficult. However, the data in this thesis are interesting, since they suggest the childhood family configuration to be more associated to adult cognitive abilities than previously thought. The literature claims that general intelligence is inherited and unaffected permanently by childhood rearing environment (e.g., Bouchard, 1998; Plomin et al., 2001). Our result showing a larger sibship size effect with increasing age contradicts the opinion that *g* is not permanently affected by rearing circumstances that siblings share (Bochard, 1998, Gottfredson, 2004; Plomin et al., 2001). However, Plomin and Petrill (1997) compiled the explained variance of heritability reported in several studies (e.g., McGue, Bouchard, Iacono, & Lykken, 1993; Plomin, 1986; Pedersen, Plomin, Nesselroade, & McClearn, 1992), and there was an

increase of heritability from 40% in childhood, to 60% in early adulthood, and to 80% in later life (60 years and above).

It has been claimed that specific cognitive abilities, such as verbal and spatial abilities, are more influenced by heritability than memory and processing speed (e.g., Thapar, Petrill, & Thompson, 1994). If this is correct, then it is surprising that our data reveal larger impact of recall with increasing age, since environmental factors are assumed to decrease with age. Birth order is also sometimes considered as a strictly environmental factor. Support for this statement is a study of biological and adoptive families conducted by Scarr and Weinberg (1977).

Parental age is another underlying factor suggested to contribute to the effects of family configuration. How will this factor affect the data in this thesis?

Wichman, Rodgers, and MacCallum (2006) believes it is important to control for mother's age at birth because it can influence sibship size and the conditions in the home under which children develop. Therefore, maternal age can capture many between-family environmental factors that may have an impact on children's intelligence. Paternal age is also associated with low birth weight. Risk factors for low birth weight (< 2500 grams) are first child-birth and teenage fathers (Tsung-Hsueh Lu, Fung-Chang Sung, and Chung-Yi Li, 2003). James (1969) reported that birth weight increases with birth order. In other words, a first-born child weighs less than second, and the second child weighs less than the third. This tendency disappears after the birth of the fifth child. It has also been reported that children with low birth weight endure increased risk of developing diseases (e.g., type 2 diabetes, coronary heart disease, and osteoporosis) in adult life (Barker, 1998). Shenkin, Starr, and Deary (2004) reviewed literature on the association between normal birth weight (>2500 grams) and childhood intelligence. They found a small positive relationship between birth weight and intelligence even after controlling for confounders.

The literature shows that parental age, birth weight, and health are variables that might be confounded with the effect of sibship size and birth order on cognitive abilities. Therefore, we have controlled for these potential confoundings by controlling for parental age and excluding individuals who suffer from diseases known to be associated with low birth weight. Another reason for excluding diseases is the relationship to lifestyle and socioeconomic status (e.g., Bäckman et al., 2004; Lee, Kawachi, Berkman, & Grodstein, 2003). The diseases excluded are dementia, heart attack, circulation disorders, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes (e.g., Bäckman, Jones, Small, Agüero-Torres, & Fratiglioni, 2003; Nilsson & Söderlund, 2001; Stachran, Ewing, Deary, & Frier, 1997).

We find that the effects of sibship size and birth order stay robust even when we control for parental age. Our data reveal no effect of parental age on cognitive performance. This result adds to the somewhat inconsistent picture of what is found on studies of children. Several authors report both positive (e.g., Kalmijn & Kraaykamp, 2005; Record, McKeown, & Edwards, 1969) and negative (e.g., Malaspina et al. 2005) effects of parental age on children's intelligence score.

Sibship size and birth order as predictors of heart-related diseases

Several previous studies have demonstrated an association between sibship size, birth order and adult diseases, e.g., allergy (Karmaus, 2002), Alzheimer's disease (Moceri, et al., 2000), certain cancers (Hsieh, Tzonou, & Zavitsanos, et al., 1992; Vineis, et al., 2000; Westergaard, Melbye, Pedersen, et al., 1997), diabetes (Bingley, Douek, Rogers, & Gale, 2000). If family configuration functions as a predictor of these diseases mentioned above, we expect that sibship size and birth order may influence heart-related diseases as well. Another reason to expect that family configuration may have an effect on heart-related diseases is the assumption that precursors of adult cardiovascular diseases and hypertension are primed in fetal life or early postnatally (Amann, Plank, & Dötsch, 2004; Berenson, 1995). Study III in this thesis is support for that assumption.

The overall results of Study III reveal that sibship size might be a factor to be considered as a predictor of myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders, stroke, and hypertension. Being born in a family with many siblings constitutes a risk factor for developing these diseases. The association between sibship size and heart-related diseases was further reduced after inclusion of age, sex, parental age at birth or participant, life style (alcohol consumption and smoking), and, in particular, education. This suggests that at least some part of the association of sibship size was mediated through education.

The overall result revealed a significant main effect of birth order for stroke, but not for cardiovascular disease and hypertension. When controlling for covariates, there was still a tendency for statistical significance for birth order. The latter effect suggests that being born early in a sibship might be a risk factor for stroke.

Our results are in line with the results obtained by Bingley, Douek, Rogers, & Gale (2000). These authors reported that risk of type 1-diabetes, adjusted for parental age at birth of participant, was highest in first-born children and decreased with ascending birth order.

Larger sibship size has been considered to increase the probability of exposure to infectious agents (infection is linked with crowded living conditions), and a crowded home may be associated with lower socioeconomic status. Birth order, on the other hand, is suggested to influence the age of exposure to childhood infections. The theory behind is

that first-born children are exposed first when they enter daycare or school (Mucci, Hsieh, Williams, Dickman, Björkman, & Pedersen, 2004). It is suggested that sibship size and birth order has an impact on early-life infection patterns, and infectious agents have sometimes been considered as causing prostate cancer (Nomura & Kolonel, 1991) and diabetes, type 1-and 2 (e.g., Hales & Barker, 1992; Ziegler, Hummel, Schenker, & Bonifacio, 1999). There is also evidence that type 2-diabetes and cardiovascular diseases share the same environmental risk factors and the same underlying genetic construct (Kao et al., 2005). However, the underlying factors remain largely unknown (Karmaus, Arshad, & Mattes, 2001). The question of an underlying mechanism that explains a causal relationship is still to be answered. It should also be noted that earlier studies of birth order have reported inconsistent results (see Bingley, 2000). Thus, the role of family configuration should be examined more fully, especially within the domain of cardiovascular diseases, as such studies are largely lacking.

The results in the present study should be interpreted with cautiousness because of the small numbers of participants suffering from stroke (N = 98), hypertension (N = 595), and myocardial infarction and circulatory disorders (N = 332) distributed over the whole range of numbers of siblings and birth order.

Commonly, epidemiological studies comprise a large number of participants. In comparison to such studies (e.g., Mucci et al. 2004), the size of the Betula project (in this case 1025 participants) is quite small. Despite this fact, the data reveal a weak relationship between family configuration and diseases.

Methodological reflections

There are several methodological considerations in studies examining family configuration. With this in mind, a presentation of advantages and limitations using data from the Betula project will be discussed below.

It is important to emphasize that the aim of the present thesis is not to evaluate the validity of the theories that offer an explanation for the influence of family configuration on cognitive measures. Without withinfamily data, a test of a cause-effect relationship is not advisable, as several authors (e.g., Galbraith, 1982; Guo & VanWey, 1999; Retherford & Sewell, 1991; Rodgers, 1984; Zajonc, 1983) believe it is necessary to use longitudinal within-family data to test these theories. Unfortunately, the Betula project does not generate within-family data.

Several cross-sectional studies have been criticised for containing selection bias, such as the data of Belmont and Marolla (1973), which were based on Dutch military men. This kind of sample makes it is difficult to decide whether the effects are due to socioeconomic status, race, region,

birth order, family size, or other variables (Rodgers, Cleveland, Oord, & Rowe, 2000). However, the design of the Betula project restricts possible selection biases as the study has been based on local and regional data sources, although it has been reported small differences between the Betula samples and the Swedish population, such that there is less formal education and lower income in the population than in the Betula samples (Nilsson et al., 1997).

However, the relatively large amount of information collected in the Betula study allows for some control of potentially important factors, such as education a proxy for socioeconomic status, parental age at time birth of subject, age of subject, and gender. Some of these factors are possible confounders according to Steelman (1985).

Health is another variable that might be confounded with sibship size and birth order, as health is related to life style and socioeconomic status (e.g., Richardson et al., 2004; Ganji & Kafai, 2003). Since considerable amounts of health data are available in the Betula study, some reduction of the risk of confounding could be achieved by excluding individuals who suffer from diseases (i.e., dementia, heart attack, circulation disorders, stroke, hypertension, and diabetes) known to affect cognitive performance. Several of these diseases are also linked to low birth weight.

Another advantage with the design of the Betula project is the possibility to compare results of cross-sectional and longitudinal data. Applying a cross-sectional design makes it promising to control for sources of variation in life-span development such as cohort effects and to examine, for example, whether the patterns are the same for middle-age, young-old, and old-old (i.e., age range 35 to 90), assuming the elderly participants have more siblings than the younger participants.

When using a longitudinal approach, practice effects may have to be attended to. Practice effects in Betula studies were examined by Rönnlund, Nyberg, Bäckman, and Nilsson (2005). These authors reported an amount of 1.5 T-scores of practice effect for both the younger and the older age cohort regarding episodic memory.

Some studies (e.g., Guo & VanWey, 1999) have reported problems with measuring sibship size, as siblings may experience a small change (i.e., one or two children added) or no change at all in sibship size during the time between test occasions. Advantages with Betula data from that point of view is the large range of sibship size from 1 to 16, and measurements take place after families have stopped expanding.

Another benefit with Betula data is the accessibility of standardised tests. In the first study, standardised tests assessing visuo-spatial (i.e., the block design test of Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale) and verbal components (i.e., word comprehension) of intelligence were used. According to Steelman (1985), standardized assessments allow comparison between nations that otherwise would be contaminated by local variations in grading or

educational standards. However, this also brings us to the limitations of using data from the Betula study to examine family configuration. Since the design was originally planned to measure health and development of memory in adulthood and old age, the test battery was selected on those premises. As a consequence, other cognitive measures are underrepresented in the study. The Betula test battery is based on theories and definitions of memory put forward in the eighties. In so far as these theories and definitions are changed or under debate (e.g., Blair, 2006), questions about internal validity could arise.

Another disadvantage is that the database does no include enough information about children's home environment during their growth. For instance, did the siblings share the same environmental influences, such as parents, culture, friends, school, and neighbourhood? Other questions of interest are related to family characteristics, such as family income, parents' education, single parents, divorce, and addition of other adults in the household. It is not clear how long the siblings lived together, and there is no information about spacing between siblings, adoption, and half-sibling ship. There are also no data available for controlling the values and attitudes of the parents. It has been suggested that parents who are oriented towards providing their children with an environment of learning and knowledge may have fewer children on average, as they may believe that larger families cannot contribute the environment they want to create (Guo & VanWey, 1999).

Finally, another shortcoming is the limited number of cases distributed over age groups and family size, making it difficult to control for a possible confounding of family size and birth order. An attempt was done in the first study but data were collapsed across the age variable.

CONCLUSIONS

The aim of the present thesis was to shed some light on childhood family configuration and to examine the relation to cognitive adult performance and health.

The overall results indicate that healthy individuals in adulthood and old age show a decrease in performance on intelligence and executive functions as a function of increasing sibship size. The extension of this pattern from childhood to adulthood and old age is evidence for the consistency of the sibship size effect on cognitive measures. When controlling for education within each age group, the effects on intelligence and the subcomponents vanished, as did the effects on executive functions, except for the working memory subcomponent, indicating a rather complex pattern of factors behind the phenomenon of sibship size effects.

The results also reveal a birth order effect on working memory. The data show that first-born children perform at a higher level than later-born children. Study II replicates and extends the findings reported in study I in that impairment can be demonstrated not only for intelligence and executive functions but also for episodic memory. The effects of family configuration show the same trend over different cohorts and across adulthood and old age. Furthermore, the effects seem to be quite robust over time, as shown by the longitudinal study.

Study III demonstrated that sibship size and birth order may function as predictors of heart-related diseases. The results show that being born in a large sibship has an effect on myocardial infarction, stroke, and hypertension in old age, and being born early in a sibship might be a predictor of stroke.

The results presented in this thesis are of importance for increased understanding of the influence of childhood factors on cognitive functions and health in adulthood and old age.

Future directions

Future studies should focus on siblings of the participants in the Betula project. By letting the adult siblings perform the same cognitive tests and health examinations as their siblings in the Betula project, possibilities to examine the nature-nurture question will arise. Such a study would offer us the ability to make a longitudinal within-family examination, and thereby increase the knowledge about the influence of childhood family configuration on adulthood cognitive performance. Such a study will also contribute to bringing several new markers to the Betula battery, and thereby provide a good basis for future research.

Another important study would be to examine young families today, since family configurations seem to have changed somewhat in the last three-four decades. Thus it is likely there will be more divorces and remarriages and fewer children born per parents (3.7 in 1957 to 2.1 children per women 2006) than in the Betula samples studied so far. Also, day-care centres, preschools, and working parents make a difference.

A larger set of tasks is needed to further examine how to generalize the results of the present thesis, especially regarding results of intelligence and executive functions.

There is also a need for a comparative disease approach. As stated by Karmaus and Johnson (2005) researchers need to ask if there is a common underlying mechanism for various immune disorders (allergic disorders and diabetes) that causes similar relationships regarding birth order. In addition to these diseases mentioned above, heart-related diseases (Holmgren et al.,

2007) show similar relationship patterns with regard to birth order. What are the protective factors in higher birth orders?

Finally, of importance is to replicate the third study to examine if similar relationship patterns between sibling structure and heart-related diseases will occur.

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, P.L. (1988). Determinants of individual differences during skill acquisition: Cognitive abilities and information processing. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 117, 288-318.
- Ackerman, P.L. (2005). Ability determinants of individual differences in skilled performance. In R.J. Sternberg & J.E. Pretz (Eds.), *Cognition and intelligence* (pp. 142-159). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Ackerman, P.L., Beier, M.E., & Boyle, M.O. (2005). Working memory and intelligence: The same or different constructs? *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 30-60.
- Adams, B.N. (1972). Birth order: A critical review. Sociometry, 35, 411-439.
- Adler, N.E., Boyce, W.T., Chesney, M.A., Folkman, S., & Syme, L. (1993). Socioeconomic inequalities in health: No easy solution. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 269, 3140-3145.
- Allen, V.L., & Feldman, R.S. (1973). Learning through tutoring: Low-achieving children as tutors. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 42, 1-5.
- Altus, W.D. (1965). Birth-order and scholastic aptitude. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 29, 202-205.
- Altus, W.D. (1966). Birth order and its sequelae. Science, 151, 44-48.
- Amann, K., Plank, C., & Dötsch, J. (2004). Low nephron number a new cardiovascular risk factor in children? *Pediatric Nephrology*, 19, 1319-1323.
- Anastasi, A. (1956). Intelligence and family size. *Psychological Bulletin*, 53, 187-209.
- Anderson, M. (2005). Marrying intelligence and cognition. In R.J. Sternberg & J.E. Pretz (Eds.), *Cognition and intelligence* (pp. 268-287). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Armor, D.J. (2001). On family size and intelligence. *American Psychologist*, 56, 521-522.
- Ashton, M.C., Lee, K., & Vernon, P.A. (2001). Which is the real intelligence? A reply to Robinson (1999). *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30, 1353-1359.
- Bäckman, L., Jones, S., Small, B. J., Agüero-Torres, H., & Fratiglioni, L. (2003). Rate of cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease: The role of comorbidity. *Journal of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, 58B, 228-236.
- Bäckman, L., Wahlin, Å., Small, B.J., Herlitz, A., Winblad, B., & Fratiglioni, L. (2004). Cognitive functioning in aging and dementia: The Kungsholmen Project. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 11*, 212-244.
- Baddeley, A.D., Lewis, V., Eldridge, M., & Thompson, N. (1984). Attention and retrieval from long-term memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 113, 518-540.

- Baddeley, A.D.(1986). Working memory. Oxford: Oxford University Press/Clarendon Press.
- Baddeley, A.D. (1997). *Human memory: Theory and practice.* (Rev.ed.). Hove, UK: Psychology Press.
- Baddeley, A.D., & Hitch, G. (1974). Working memory. In G.A. Bower (Ed.), Recent advances in learning and motivation. Vol. 8. New York: Academic Press.
- Bailey, J.M., Kirk, K.M., Zhu, G., Dunne, M.P., & Martin, N.G. (2000). Do individual differences in sociosexuality represent genetic or environmentally contingent strategies? Evidence from the Australian twin registry. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 537-545.
- Barker, D.J.P. (1998). *Mothers, babies and health in later life* (2nd ed.) Edinburgh, Scotland: Churchill Livingstone.
- Baydar, N., Greek, A., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (1997). A longitudinal study of the effects of the birth of a sibling during the first 6 years of life. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 59, 939-956.
- Beier, M.E., & Ackerman, P.L. (2005). Working memory and intelligence: Different constructs. Reply to Oberauer et al. (2005) and Kane et al. (2005). *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 72-75.
- Belmont, L., & Marolla, F.A. (1973). Birth order, family size and intelligence. *Science*, 182, 1096-1101.
- Belmont, L., Stein, Z.A., & Susser, M.W. (1975). Comparison of association of birth order with intelligence test score and height. *Nature*, *255*, 54-56.
- Berbaum, M.L., Markus, G.B., & Zajonc, R.B. (1982). A closer look at Galbraith's "closer look". *Developmental Psychology*, 18, 174-180.
- Berbaum, M.L., & Moreland, R.L. (1980). Intellectual development within the family: A new application of the confluence model. *Developmental Psychology*, 16, 506-515.
- Berbaum, M.L., & Moreland, R.L. (1985). Intellectual development within transracial adoptive families: Retesting the confluence model. *Child Development*, 56, 207-216.
- Berenbaum, S.A., Baxter, L., Seidenberg, M., & Hermann, B. (1997). Role of the hippocampus in sex differences in verbal memory: Memory outcome following left anterior temporal lobectomy. *Neuropsychology*, 11, 585-591.
- Berenson, G.S. (1995). Rationale to study the early natural history of heart disease: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 310, 22-28.
- Berglund, G. (1996). Hypertoni [Hypertension]. In L. Hallberg, G. Holm, N. Lindholm, & L. Werkö (Eds.), *Intern medicin* [Internal medicin](pp. 256-269). Stockholm: Liber Förlag AB.
- Berglund, E., Eriksson, M., & Westerlund, M. (2005). Communicative skills in relation to gender, birth order, childcare and socioeconomic status in 18-month-old children. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 46, 485-491.

- Binet, A., & Simon, T. (1916). *The development of intelligence in children* (E.S. Kite, Trans.). Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Bingley, P.J., Douek, I.F., Rogers, C.A., & Gale, E.A.M. (2000). Influence of maternal age at delivery and birth order on risk of type 1 diabetes in childhood: prospective population based family study. *BMJ*, *321*, 420-424.
- Bjerkedal, T., Kristensen, P., Skjeret, G.A., & Brevik, J.I. (2007). Intelligence test scores and birth order among Norwegian men (conscripts) analyzed within and between families. *Intelligence*, *35*, 503-514.
- Blake, J. (1981). Family size and quality of children. Demography, 18, 421-442.
- Blake, J. (1989). Family size and achievement. Vol. 3: Studies in demography. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Blair, C. (2006). How similar are fluid cognition and general intelligence? A developmental neuroscience perspective on fluid cognition as an aspect of human cognitive ability. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 29, 109-160.
- Blau, P. M., & Duncan, O.D. (1967). *The American occupational structure*. New York: Wiley.
- Blohmé, G. (1996). Diabetes mellitus. In L. Hallberg, G. Holm, N. Lindholm, & L. Werkö (Eds.), *Intern medicin* [Internal medicin] (pp. 538-576). Liber Förlag AB, Stockholm.
- Bolla, K.I., Lindgren, K.N., Bonaccorsy, C., & Bleecker, M.L. (1990). Predictors of verbal fluency (FAS) in the healthy elderly. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 46, 623-628.
- Borella, E., Carretti, B., & Mammarella, I.C. (2006). Do working memory and susceptibility to interference predict individual differences in fluid intelligence? *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 18, 51-69.
- Bouchard, T.J., Jr. (1998). Genetic and environmental influences on adult intelligence and special mental abilities. *Human Biology*, 70, 257-279.
- Bouchard, T.J., Jr, & McGue, M. (1981). Familial studies of intelligence: A review. *Science*, 212, 1055-1059.
- Bouchard, T.J., Jr., & Pedersen, N. (1999). Twins reared apart: Nature's double experiment. In M.C. LaBuda et al. (Eds.), On the way to individuality: Current methodological issues in behavioral genetics. New York: Nova.
- Bowen, N.K., & Bowen, G.L. (1999). Effects of crime and violence in neighborhoods and schools on the school behavior and performance of adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 14, 319-342.
- Brackbill, Y., & Nichols, P.L. (1982). A test of the confluence model of intellectual development. *Developmental Psychology*, 18, 192-198.
- Breland, H. (1974). Birth order, family configuration, and verbal achievement. *Child Development*, 45, 1011-1019.
- Brooks, D.N., & Baddely, A.D. (1976). What can amnesic patients learn? *Neuropsychologia*, 14, 111-122.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1989). Ecological systems theory. In R. Vasta (Ed.), Six theories of child development (185-246). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Brody, N. (1993). Intelligence and the behavioural genetics of personality. In R. Plomin & G.E. McClearn (Eds.), *Nature, nurture, and psychology*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Bryan, J., & Luszcz, M.A. (2001). Adult age differences in self-ordered pointing task performance: Contributions from working memory, executive function and speed of information processing. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 23, 608-619.
- Bugg, J.M., Zook, N.A., DeLosh, E.L., Davalos, D.B., & Davis, H.P. (2006). Age differences in fluid intelligence: Contributions of general slowing and frontal decline. *Brain and Cognition*, 62, 9-16.
- Burns, D.M. (2000). Cigarette smoking among the elderly: Disease consequences and the benefits of cessation. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 14, 357-361.
- Bussey, K., & Bandura, A. (1999). Social cognitive theory of gender development and differentiation. *Psychological Review*, *106*, 676-713.
- Cabeza, R., Kapur, S., Craik, F.I.M., McIntosh, A.R., Houle, S., & Tulving, E., (1997). Functional neuroanatomy of recall and recognition: A PET study of episodic Memory. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 9, 254-265.
- Cabeza, R., McIntosh, A.R., Tulving, E., Nyberg, L., & Grady, C.L. (1997). Age-related differences in effective neural connectivity during encoding and recall. *NeuroReport*, 8, 3479-3483.
- Cabeza, R., & Nyberg, L. (2000). Imaging cognition II: An empirical review of 275 PET and fMRI studies. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 12, 1-47.
- Cahan, S., & Cohen, N. (1989). Age versus schooling effects on intelligence. *Child Development, 60,* 1239-1249.
- Carroll, J.B. (1993). *Human cognitive abilities: A survey of factor-analytic studies*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Capitani, E., Laiacona, M., & Barbarotto, R. (1999). Gender affects word retrieval of certain categories in semantic fluency tasks. *Cortex*, *35*, 273-278.
- Catell, R.B. (1971). Abilities: Their structure, growth, and action. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Catell, R.B. (1987). *Intelligence: Its structure, growth, and action.* Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Ceci, S.J. (1991). How much does schooling influence general intelligence and its cognitive components? A reassessment of the evidence. *Developmental Psychology*, *5*, 703-722.
- Chalmers, T.H. (1956). Lycka [Happiness]. In N. Simonsson (Ed.), Levnadsstigen: Små ordbilder ur människans liv från början till slutet (pp.113). Göteborg: Tre tryckare.

- Cnattingius, S., Berendes, H., & Forman, M. (1993). Do delayed childbearers face increased risks of adverse pregnancy outcomes after the first birth? *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 81, 512-516.
- Cohen, N.J., & Squire, L.R. (1980). Preserved learning and retention of pattern analyzing skill in amnesia: Dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. *Science*, 210, 207-209.
- Colaruso, G.A., & Nemiroff, R.A. (1981). Adult development: A new dimension in psychodynamic theory and practice. New York: Plenum.
- Colom, R., & García-Lópes, O. (2002). Sex differences in fluid intelligence among high school graduates. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32, 445-451.
- Craik, F.I.M., & Jennings, J.M. (1992). Human memory. In F.I.M. Craik & T.A. Salthouse (Eds.), *The handbook of aging and cognition* (pp. 51-110). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Crawford, J.R., Bryan, J., Luszcz, M.A., Obonsawin, M.C., & Stewart, L. (2000). The executive decline hypothesis of cognitive aging: do executive deficits qualify as differential deficits and do they mediate age-related memory decline? *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 7*, 9-31.
- Dahl, E., & Birkelund, E. (1997). Health inequalities in later life in a social democratic welfare state. *Social Science & Medicine*, 44, 871-881.
- Dalla Barba, G., Parlato, V., Joert, A., Samson, Y., Pappata, S. (1998). Cortical networks implicated in semantic and episodic memory: Common or unique? *Cortex*, 34, 547-561.
- Davis, D.J., Cahan, S., Bashi, J. (1977). Birth order and intellectual development: The confluence model in the light of cross-cultural evidence. *Science*, 196, 1470-1472.
- De Ribaupierre, A., & Lecerf, T. (2006). Relationships between working memory and intelligence from a developmental perspective: Convergent evidence from a neo-Piagetian and a psychometric approach. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology, 18*, 109-137.
- Diehl, M., Willis, S.L., & Schaie, K.W. (1995). Everyday problem solving in older adults: Observational assessment and cognitive correlates. *Psychology and Aging*, 10, 478-491.
- Downey, D. B. (1995). When bigger is not better. Family size, parental resources, and children's educational performance. *American Sociological Review*, 60, 747-761.
- Downey, D. B. (2001). Number of siblings and intellectual development. The resource dilution explanation. *American Psychologist*, *56*, 497-504.
- Downey, D.B., Powell, B., Steelman, L.C., & Pribesh, S. (1999). Much ado about siblings: Change models, sibship size, and intellectual development. Comment on Guo & VanWey. *American Sociological Review,* 64, 193-198.
- Erikson, E. H. (1963). Childhood and society (2nd ed.). New York: Norton.

- Ernst, C., & Angst, J. (1983). Birth order: Its influence on personality. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Feinberg, A.W. (2000, October). Questions and answears. HealthNews, 10.
- Fingerhut, L.A., & Makuc, D.M. (1992). Mortality among minority populations in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health, 82,* 1168-1170.
- Fischer, K., & Bidell, T. R. (1998). Dynamic development of psychological structure in action and thought. In W. Damon (Series Ed.), & R.M. Lerner (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development* (5th ed., pp. 467-562). New York: Wiley.
- Friedman, D., Berman, S., & Hamberger, M. (1993). Recognition memory and ERPs: Age-related changes in young, middle-aged, and elderly adults. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, 7, 181-201.
- Galbraith, R.C. (1982). Sibling spacing and intellectual development: A closer look at the confluence models. *Developmental Psychology*, 18, 151-173.
- Galbraith, R.C. (1983). Individual differences in intelligence: A reappraisal of the Confluence model. *Intelligence*, 7, 185-194.
- Ganji & Kafai (2003). Demographic, health, lifestyle, and blood vitamin determinants of serum total homocysteine concentrations in the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 77, 826-833.
- Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences. New York: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (1999). Intelligence reframed. New York: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (2000). *Intelligence reframed: Multiple intelligence for the 21st century.* New York: Basic Books.
- Garlick, D., & Sejnowski, T.J. (2006). There is more to fluid intelligence than working memory capacity and executive function. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 29, 134-135.
- Gartner, A., Kohler, M., & Riessman, F. (1971). *Children teach children*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Gibbs, N. (2002). Making time for a baby. Time, April 15, 48-54.
- Gibson, E.J., & Pick, A.D. (2000). An ecological approach to perceptual learning and development. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gottfredson, L.S. (1997). Mainstream science on intelligence: An editorial with 52 signatories, history, and bibliography. *Intelligence*, 24, 13-23.
- Gottfredson, L.S. (2004). Intelligence: Is it the epidemiologists' elusive "fundamental cause" of social class inequalities in health? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86, 174-199.
- Gregg, V. (1976). Word frequency, recognition and recall. In J. Brown (Ed.), Recall and recognition. Oxford, England: John Wiley & Sons.

- Grotevant, H.D., Scarr, S., & Weinberg, R.A. (1977). Intellectual development in family constellations with adopted and natural children: A test of the Zajonc and Markus model. *Child Development*, 48, 1699-1703.
- Guo, G., & VanWey, L.K. (1999). Sibship size and intellectual development: Is the relationship causal? *American Sociological Review, 64*, 169-187.
- Hales, C.N, & Barker, D.J.P. (1992). Type 2 (non-insulin dependent) diabetes mellitus; the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *Diabetologia*, *35*, 595-601.
- Hansen, E. J., Ringen, S., Uusitalo, H., & Erikson, R. (Eds.). (1993). Welfare trends in the Scandinavian countries. London: M. E. Sharpe.
- Havighurst, R.J. (1979). *Developmental tasks and education* (4th ed.). New York: D. McKay.
- Henry, J.D., & Phillips, L.H. (2006). Covariates of production and perseveration on tests of phonemic, semantic and alternating fluency in normal aging. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 13,* 529-551.
- Herlitz, A., Airaksinen, E., Nordstrom, E. (1999). Sex differences in episodic memory: The impact of verbal and visuospatial ability. *Neuropsychology*, 13, 590-597.
- Herlitz, A., Nilsson, L.-G., & Bäckman, L. (1997). Gender differences in episodic memory. *Memory & Cognition*, 25, 801-811.
- Hertzog, C., Dixon, R.A., Hultsch, D.F., & MacDonald, S.W.S. (2003). Latent change models of adult cognition: Are changes in processing speed and working memory associated with changes in episodic memory? *Psychology and Aging, 18*, 755-769.
- Hirst, W., Johnson, M.K., Phelps, E.A., & Volpe, B.T. (1986). Recognition and recall in amnesics. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory,* & Cognition, 12, 445-451.
- Holley, W.L., Rosenbaum, A.L., & Churchill, J.A. (1969). *Effect of rapid succession of pregnancy* (Scientific Publication No. 185). Washington, D.C.: Pan American Health Organization.
- Holmgren, S., Molander, B., & Nilsson, L-G. (2006). Intelligence and executive functioning in adult age: Effects of sibship size and birth order. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 18, 138-158.
- Hummer, R.A., Rogers, R.G., & Eberstein, I.W. (1998). Sociodemographic differentials in adult mortality: A review of analytic approaches. *Population and Development Review*, 24, 553-578.
- Hunter, G.R. McCarthy, J.P., & Bamman, M.M. (2004). Effects of resistance training on older adults. *Sports Medicine*, *34*, 329-348.
- Irish, D.P. (1964). Sibling interaction: A neglected aspect in family life research. *Social Forces*, 42, 279-288.
- James, W.H. (1969). Birth weight and birth order. *Annals of Human Genetics*, 32, 411-412.

- Jencks, C., Smith, M., Acland, H., Bane, M.J., Cohen, D., Gintis, H. (1972). Inequality: A reassessment of the effect of family and schooling in America. New York: Basic Books.
- Johnson, D. (2003). Fighting for air. Newsweek, 22, 54-57.
- Johnson, W., & Gottesman, I.I. (2006). Clarifying process versus structure in human intelligence: Stop talking about fluid and crystallised. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 29, 136-137.
- Kalmijn, M., & Kraaykamp, G. (2005). Late or later? A sibling analysis of the effect of maternal age on children's schooling. *Social Science Research*, 34, 634-650.
- Kane, M.J., Hambrick, D.Z., & Conway, A.R.A. (2005). Working memory capacity and fluid intelligence are strongly related constructs: Comment on Ackerman, Beier, and Boyle (2005). *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 66-71.
- Kao, L.W.H., Hsueh, W.C., Rainwater, D.L., O'Leary, D.H., Imumorin, I.G., Stern, M.P., & Mitchell, B.D. (2005). Family history of type 2 diabetes is associated with increased carotid artery intimal-medial thickness in Mexican Americans. *Diabetes Care*, 28, 1882-1889.
- Karmaus, W., Arshad, H., & Mattes, J. (2001). Does the sibling effect have its origin in utero? Investigating birth order, cord blood immunoglobulin E concentration, and allergic sensitization at age 4 years. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 154, 909-915.
- Karmaus, W., & Botezan, C. (2002). Health. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 56, 209-217.
- Karmaus, W., & Johnson, C.C. (2005). Invited commentary: Sibship effects and a call for a comparative disease approach. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 162, 133-138.
- Kart, C.S. (1990). The realities of aging (3rd ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Katz, S., & Marshall, B. (2003). New sex for old: Lifestyle, consumerism, and the ethics of aging well. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 17, 3-16.
- Kausler, D.H. (1994). Learning and memory in normal aging. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Kempler, D., Teng, E.L., Dick, M., Taussing, I.M., & Davis, D.S. (1998). The effects of age, education, and ethnicity on verbal fluency. *Journal of International Neuropsychological Society*, 4, 531-538.
- Kennett, K.F. (1973). Measured intelligence, family size and socio-economic status. *The Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 19, 314-320.
- Kennet, K.F., & Cropley, A.J. (1970). Intelligence, family size and socio-economic status. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, *2*, 227-236.
- Kramer, J.H., Rosen, H.J., Du, A.T., Schuff N., Hollnagel C., Weiner M.W., Miller B.L., & Delis, D.C. (2005). Dissociations in hippocampal and frontal contributions to episodic memory performance. *Neuropsychology*, 19, 799-805.

- Kuo, H.–H.D., & Hauser, R.M. (1997). How does size of sibship matter? Family configuration and family effects on educational attainment. *Social Science Research*, 26, 69-94.
- Kyllonen, P.C., & Christal, R.E. (1990). Reasoning ability is (little more than) working- memory capacity. *Intelligence*, 14, 389-433.
- Labouvie-Vief, G. (1980). Beyond formal operations: Uses and limits of pure logic in life-span development. *Human Development*, 23, 141-161.
- Labouvie-Vief, G. (1986). Modes of knowledge and the organization of development. In M.L. Commons, L. Kohlberg, F. Richards, & J. Sinnott (Eds.), Beyond formal operations 3: Models and methods in the study of adult and adolescent thought. New York: Praeger.
- Labouvie-Vief, F. (1990). Modes of knowledge and the organization of development. In M.L. Commons, C. Armon, L. Kohlberg, F.A. Richards, T.A. Grotzer, & J.Sinnot (Eds.), *Adult development (Vol. 2)*. *Models and methods in the study of adolescent thought*. New York: Praeger.
- Lee, S., Kawachi, I., Berkman, L.F., & Grodstein, F. (2003). Education, other socioeconomic indicators, and cognitive function. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 157, 712-720.
- Lewin, C., Wolgers, G., & Herlitz, A. (2001). Sex differences favoring women in verbal but not in visuospatial episodic memory. *Neuropsychology*, 15, 165-173.
- Light, L.L. (1991). Memory and aging: Four hypotheses in search of data. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 42, 333-376.
- Loehlin, J.C (1989). Partitioning environmental and genetic contributions to behavioral development. *American Psychologist*, 44, 1285-1292.
- Loehlin, J.C., Horn, J.M., & Willerman, L. (1989). Modeling IQ change Evidence from the Texas adoption project. *Child Development*, 60, 993-1004.
- Lu, T.D., Sung, F.C., & Li, C.Y. (2003). Demographic characteristics and trends in the prevalence of low birth weight from singleton pregnancies in Taiwan, 1978-1997. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 102, 313-318.
- Lubinski, D. (2004). Introduction to the special section on cognitive abilities: 100 years after Spearman's (1904). "'General Intelligence,' objectively determined and measured." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86, 96-111.
- Luszcz, M.A., & Bryan, J. (1999). Toward understanding age-related memory loss in late adulthood. *Gerontology*, 45, 2-9.
- Lynch, J.W., Kaplan, G.A., & Salonen, J.T. (1997). Why do poor people behave poorly? Variation in adult health behaviour and psychosocial characteristics by stages of the socio-economic life course. *Soc. Sci. Med.*, 44, 809-819.

- Maitland, S.B., Herlitz, A., Nyberg, L., Bäckman, L., & Nilsson, L.-G. (2004). Selective sex differences in declarative memory. *Memory & Cognition*, 32, 1160-1169.
- Malaspina, D., Reichenberg, A., Weiser, M., Fenning, S., Davidson, M., Harlap, S., Wolitzky, R., Rabinowitz, W., & Knobler, H.Y. (2005). Paternal age and intelligence: Implications for age-related genomic changes in male germ cells. *Psychiatric Genetics*, 15, 117-125.
- Marjoribanks, K. (1978). Birth order, age spacing between siblings, and cognitive performance. *Psychological Reports*, 42, 115-123.
- Marjoribanks, K. (1990). The sibling resource dilution theory: An analysis. *The Journal of Psychology, 125,* 337-346.
- Markus, G.B., & Zajonc, R.B. (1977). Family configuration and intellectual development: A simulation. *Behavioral Science*, 22, 137-142.
- Mascie-Taylor, C.G.N. (1980). Family Size, Birth Order and I.Q. Components; a survey of a Cambridge Suburb. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 12, 309-312.
- Masling, J.M., & Bornstein, R.F. (Eds.). (1996). Psychoanalytic perspectives on developmental psychology. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- McGue, M., Bouchard, T., Iacono, W., & Lykken, D. (1993). Behavioral genetics of cognitive ability: A lifespan perspective. In R. Plomin & G. MacClearn (Eds.), *Nature, nurture and psychology* (pp. 59-76). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- McGuinness, D. (1972). Hearing: Individual differences in perceiving. *Perception*, 1, 465-473.
- Mercy, J.A., & Steelman, L.C. (1982). Familial influence on the intellectual attainment of children. *American Sociological Review*, 47, 532-542.
- Michalski, R.L., & Shackelford, T.K. (2001). Methodology, birth order, intelligence, and personality. *American Psychologist*, 56, 520-521.
- Miller, E. (1984). Verbal fluency as a function of a measure of verbal intelligence and in relation to different types of cerebral pathology. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 23, 53-57.
- Mitchell, D.B., (1989). How many memory systems? Evidence from aging. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 15, 31-49.
- Mitchell, D., Haan, M., & Steinberg, F. (2003). Body composition in the elderly: The influence of nutritional factors and physical activity. *Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 7*, 130-139.
- Miyaki, A., Emerson, M J., & Friedman, N. P. (2000). Assessment of executive functions in clinical settings: Problems and recommendations. *Seminars in Speech and Language*, 21, 169-183.
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N.P., Emerson, M.J., Witzki, A.H., & Howerter, A. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, 41, 49-100.

- Moceri, V.M., Kukull, W.A., Emanuel, I., van Belle, G., & Larson, E.B. (2000). Early-life risk factors and the development of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, *54*, 415-425.
- Morris, R.G., & Kopelman, M.D. (1986). The memory deficits in Alzheimer-type dementia: A review. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology. Special Issue: Human Memory*, 38, 575-602.
- Mucci, L.A., Hsieh, C.-C., Williams, P.L., Dickman, P.W. Björkman, L., & Pedersen, L. (2004). Birth order, Sibship size, and housing density in relation to tooth loss and periodontal disease: A cohort study among Swedish twins. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 159, 499-506.
- Naveh-Benjamin, M. (2000). Adult age differences in memory performance: Tests of an associative deficit hypothesis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology:* Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 26, 1170-1187.
- Naveh-Benjamin, M., Hussain, Z., Guez, J., Bar-On, M. (2003). Adult age differences in episodic memory: Further support for an associative-deficit hypothesis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition, 29*, 826-837.
- Naveh-Benjamin, M., Guez, J., Kilb, A., & Reedy, S. (2004). The associative memory deficit of older adults: Further support using face-name associations. *Psychology and Aging, 19*, 541-546.
- Nilsson, L-G. (1996). Memory and health. In T. Niit & A. Baltin (Eds.). *Identity, freedom, values, and memory* (pp. 49-69). Tallin: Union of the Estonian Psychologists.
- Nilsson, L-G. (1999). Aging, dementia, and memory. In L-G. Nilsson & H.J. Markowitsch (Eds.), *Cognitive neuroscience of memory* (pp. 147-162). Göttingen, Germany: Hogrefe & Huber Publishers.
- Nilsson, L-G., (2003). Memory function in normal aging. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 107, 7-13.
- Nilsson, L.G., et al. (2004). Aging Neuropsychol. C., 11,134-148.
- Nilsson, L.-G., Adolfsson, R., Bäckman, L., de Frias, C., Molander, B., & Nyberg, L. (2004). Betula: A prospective cohort study on memory, health, and aging. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, 11, 134-148.
- Nilsson, L.-G., Bäckman, L., Erngrund, K., Nyberg, L., Adolfsson, R., Buch, G., et al. (1997). The Betula prospective cohort study: Memory, health, and aging. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, 4, 1-32.
- Nilsson, L.-G., Law, J., & Tulving, E. (1988). Recognition failure of recallable unique names. Evidence for an empirical law of memory and learning. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition*, 14, 266-277.
- Nilsson, B., & Norrving, B. (1999). Cerebrovaskulära sjukdomar [Cerebrovascular diseases]. Bogentoft, S. (Eds.). In S. Bogentoft (Ed.), *Läkemedelsboken 1999/2000* [The medicin book] (pp. 306-315). Stockholm, Sweden: Apoteket AB.

- Nilsson, L.-G, & Söderlund, H. (2001). Aging, cognition and health. In M. Naveh-Benjamin, M. Moscovitch, & H.L. Roediger, III (Eds.), *Perspectives on human memory and cognitive aging: Essays in honour of Fergus Craik* (pp.253-264). Psychology Press.
- Nilsson, L.G., Winblad, B., Adolfsson, R., Buch, G., & Bäckman, L. (1992). Åldrande, minne och demens: Resultat från en prospektiv studie [Aging, memory, and dementia: Results from a prospective study]. In B. Pernow (Ed.), *Åldrande och åldersrelaterade sjukdomar* [Aging and age-related diseases]. Stockholm: Gidlunds Förlag.
- Nilsson, L-G., Bäckman, L., Erngrund, K., Nyberg, L., Adolfsson, R., Bucht, G., Karlsson, S., Widing, M., & Winblad, B. (1997). The Betula prospective cohort study: Memory, health, and aging. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 4*, 1-32.
- Nisbet, J.D. (1953a). Family environment: a direct effect of family size on intelligence. London: Cassel.
- Nisbet, J.D. (1953b). Family environment and intelligence. *Eugenics Review*, 45, 31-40.
- Nisbet, J.D, & Entwistle, N.J. (1967). Intelligence and family size: 1949-1965. *Brittish Journal of Educational Psychology*, *37*, 188-193.
- Nomura, A.M.Y., & Kolonel, L.N. (1991). Prostate cancer: a current perspective. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 13, 200-227.
- Nyberg, L., & Tulving, E. (1997). Searching for memory systems. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 9, 121-125.
- Nyberg, L., Marklund, P., Persson, J., Cabeza, R., Forkstam, C., Petersson, K.M., & Ingvar, M. (2003). Common prefrontal activations during working memory, episodic memory, and semantic memory. *Neuropsychologia*, 41, 371-377.
- Nyberg, L., Cabeza, R., & Tulving, E. (1996). PET studies of encoding and retrieval: The HERA model. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review, 2,* 134-147.
- Nyberg, L., Maitland, S. B., Rönnlund, M., Bäckman, L., Dixon, R.A., Wahlin, Å., & Nilsson, L.-G. (2003). Selective adult age differences in an age-invariant multi-factor model of declarative memory. *Psychology & Aging*, 18, 149-160.
- Oberauer, K., Schulze, R., Wilhelm, O., & Süß, H.-M. (2005). Working memory and intelligence- their correlation and their relation: Comment on Ackerman, Beier, and Boyle (2005). *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 61-65.
- Obonsawin, M.C., Crawford, J.R., Page, J., Chalmers, P., Cochrane, R., & Low, G. (2002). Performance on tests of frontal lobe function reflect general intellectual ability. *Neuropsychologia*, 40, 970-977.
- Olneck, M.R., & Bills, D. (1979). Family configuration and achievement: Effects of birth order and family size in a sample of brothers. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 42, 135-148.

- Page, E.B., & Grandon, G. (1979). Family configuration and mental ability: Two theories contrasted with U.S.data. *American Educational Research Journal*, 16, 257-272.
- Parkin, A.J., & Java, R.I. (1999). Deterioration of frontal lobe function in normal aging: Influences of fluid intelligence versus perceptual speed. *Neuropsychology*, 13, 539-545.
- Parkin, A.J., & Walter, B.M. (1991). Aging, short-term memory, and frontal dysfunction. *Psychobiology*, 19, 175-179.
- Pedersen, N.L., Plomin, R., Nesselroade, J.R., & McClearn, G.E. (1992). A quantitative genetic analysis of cognitive abilities during the second half of the life span. *Psychological Science*, *3*, 346-353.
- Perry, W.G. (1970). Forms of intellectual and ethical development in the college years: A scheme. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Perry, W.G. (1981). Cognitive and ethical growth: The Making of Meaning. In A Chickering (Ed.), *The Modern American College*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1981.
- Pfouts, J.H. (1980). Birth order, age spacing, IQ differences, and family relations. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 42,517-531.
- Phillips, L.H. (1999). Age and individual differences in letter fluency. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 15, 249-267.
- Phillips, D.A., Voran, M., Kisker, E., Howes, C., & Whitebook, M. (1994). Child care for children in poverty: Opportunity or inequity? *Child Development*, 65, 472-492.
- Plomin, R. (1986). Development, genetics, and psychology. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Plomin, R., & Petrill, S.A. (1997). Genetics and intelligence: What's new? *Intelligence*, 24, 53-77.
- Plomin, R., DeFries, J.C., McClearn, G.E., & McGuffin, P. (2001). *Behavior genetics* (4th ed.). New York: Worth.
- Pong, S.-L. (1997). Sibship size and educational attainment in peninsular Malaysia: Do policies matter? *Sociological Perspectives*, 40, 227-242.
- Powell, B., & Steelman, L.C. (1989). The liability of having brothers: Paying for college and the sex composition of the family. *Sociology of Education*, 62, 134-147.
- Powell, B., & Steelman, L.C. (1993). The educational benefits of being spaced out: Sibship density and educational progress. *American Sociological Review*, 58, 367-381.
- Prater, L. (2002). African American families: Equal partners in general and special education. In F. Obiakor & A. Ford (Eds.), *Creating successful learning environments for African American learners with exceptionalities*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Rabbitt, P. (1997). Introduction: Methodologies and models in the study of executive function. In P. Rabbitt (Ed.), *Methodology of frontal and executive function*. UK: Psychology Press.

- Raven, J.C. (1948). The comparative assessment of intellectual ability. *British Journal of Psychology*, 39, 12-19.
- Raven, J.C., Court, J.H., & Raven, J. (1987). *A manual for Raven's Progressive Matrices and Vocabulary Tests.* London: H.K. Lewis.
- Raz, N., Rodrigue, K.M., Head, D., Kennedy, K.M, & Acker, J.D. (2004). Differential aging of the medial temporal lobe- a study of a five-year change. *Neurology*, 62, 433-438.
- Record, R. G., McKeown, T., & Edwards, J. H. (1969). The relation of measured intelligence to birth order and maternal age. *Annals of Human Genetics*, 34, 11-20.
- Rehnqvist, N., & Lundman, T. (1996). *Kranskärlssjukdom* [Coronary artery disease]. In L. Hallberg, G. Holm, N. Lindholm, & L. Werkö (Eds.), *Intern medicin* [Internal medicin] (pp. 220-237). Liber Förlag AB, Stockholm.
- Retherford, R.D., & Sewell, W.H. (1991). Birth order and intelligence: Further tests of the confluence model. *American Sociological Review*, 56, 141-158.
- Richardson, C.R., Kriska, A.M., Lantz, P.M., & Hayward, R.A. (2004). Physical activity and mortality across cardiovascular disease risk groups. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 36, 1923-1929.
- Rodgers, J.L. (1984). Confluence Effects: Not here, not now! *Developmental Psychology*, 20, 321-331.
- Rodgers, J. L. (1988). Birth order, SAT, and confluence: Spurious correlations and no causality. *American Psychologist*, 43, 467-477.
- Rodgers, J.L. (2001). What causes birth order-intelligence patterns? The admixture hypothesis, revived. *American Psychologist*, *56*, 505-510.
- Rodgers, J.L., Cleveland, H.D., van den Oord, E., & Rowe, D.C. (2000). Resolving the debate over birth order, family size, and intelligence. *American Psychologist*, 55, 599-612.
- Rogers, W.A., Hertzog, C., & Fisk, A.D. (2000). An individual differences analysis of ability and strategy influences: Age-related differences in associative learning. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition*, 26, 359-394.
- Rowe, D.C. (1999). Heredity. In V.J. Derlega, & B.A. Winstead, *Personality: Contemporary theory and research* (2nd ed.,). Chicago: Nelson-Hall Publishers.
- Rönnlund, M., Nyberg, L., Bäckman, L., & Nilsson, L.-G. (2003). Recall of subject-performed tasks, and cognitive activities across the adult life span; Parallel age-related deficits. *Aging, Neuropsychology, & Cognition*, 10, 182-201.
- Rönnlund, M. (2003). Aspects of declarative memory functioning in adulthood: Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. Doctoral dissertation, University of Umeå, Sweden.

- Rönnlund, M., Nyberg, L., Bäckman, L., & Nilsson, L.-G. (2005). Stability, growth, and decline in adult life span development of declarative memory: Cross-sectional and longitudinal data from a population-based study. *Psychology and Aging*, 20, 3-18.
- Salthouse, T.A. (1991a). Theoretical perspectives on cognitive aging. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Salthouse, T.A. (1991b). Mediation of adult age differences in cognition by reductions in working memory and speed of processing. *Psychological Science*, 2, 179-183.
- Salthouse, T.A. (1992). The information-processing perspective on cognitive aging. In R.J. Sternberg & C.A. Berg (Eds.), *Intellectual development* (pp. 261-277). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Salthouse, T.A. (1996). The processing-speed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychological Review*, 103, 403-428.
- Salthouse, T.A., Atkinson, T.M., Berish, D.E. (2003). Executive functioning as a potential mediator of age-related cognitive decline in normal adults. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 132,* 566-594.
- Salthouse, T.A. (2005). From description to explanation in cognitive aging. In R.J. Sternberg & J.E. Pretz (Eds.), *Cognition and intelligence* (pp. 288-305). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Salthouse, T.A, & Davis, H.P. (2006). Organization of cognitive abilities and neuropsychological variables across the lifespan. *Developmental Review*, 26, 31-54.
- Scarr, S., & Weinberg, R.A. (1977). Intellectual similarities within families of both adopted and biological children. *Intelligence*, 1, 170-191.
- Schachter, S. (1963). Birth order, eminence and higher education. *American Sociological Review*, 28, 757-768.
- Schaie, K.W. (1965). A general model for the study of developmental problems. *Psychological Bulletin*, 64, 92-107.
- Schaie, K.W. (1977). Quasi-experimental research designs in the psychology of aging. In J.E. Birren & K.W. Schaie (Eds.), *Handbook of the psychology of aging* (pp.39-58). New York: Van Nostrand.
- Schaie, K.W. (1994). The course of adult intellectual development. *American Psychologist*, 49, 304-313.
- Schaie, K.W., & Willis, S.L. (1993). Age difference patterns of psychometric intelligence in adulthood: Generalizability within and across ability domains. *Psychology and Aging*, 8, 44-55.
- Schaie, K.W., Willis, S.L., Jay, G., & Chipuer, H. (1989). Structural invariance of cognitive abilities across the adult life span: A cross-sectional study. *Developmental Psychology*, 25, 652-662.
- Schaie, K.W. (1977-1978). Toward a stage theory of adult cognitive development. *Aging and Human Development*, 8, 129-138.
- Schooler, C. (1972). Birth order effects: Not here, not now! *Psychological Bulletin*, 78, 161-175.

- Schonfield, D., & Robertson, D.A. (1966). Memory storage and aging. *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, 20, 228-236.
- Scott, E.M., & Nisbet, J.D. (1955). Intelligence and family size in an adult sample. *Eugenics Review*, 46, 233-235.
- Shallice, T. (1982). Specific impairments of planning. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society, London, B, 298, 199-209.
- Shallice, T. (1988). From neuropsychology to mental structure. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Shenkin, S.D., Starr, J.M., & Deary, I.J. (2004). Birth weight and cognitive ability in childhood: A systematic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130, 989-1013.
- Siegler, R.S. (1998). *Children's thinking* (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Sinnot, J.D. (1998). Career path and creative lives: A theoretical perspective on late-life potential. In C. Adams-Price (Ed.), *Creativity and successful aging: Theoretical and empirical approaches*. New York: Springer.
- Smedley, B.D., & Syme, S.L. (Eds.). (2000). *Promoting health: Intervention strategies from social and behavioral research*. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences.
- Smith, A.D. (1996). Memory. In J.E. Birren & K.W. Schaie (Eds.), *Handbook of the psychology of aging* (4th ed., pp. 236-250). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Spearman, C.S. (1927). The abilities of man. New York: Macmillan.
- Squire, L.R. (1986). Mechanisms of memory. Science, 232, 1612-1619.
- Squire, L.R. (1987). Memory and brain. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Squire, L.R. (1992a). Declarative and nondeclarative memory: Multiple brain systems supporting learning and memory. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 4, 232-243.
- Squire, L.R. (1992b). Memory and the hippocampus: A synthesis from findings with rats, monkeys, and humans. *Psychological Review*, 99, 195-231.
- Squire, L.R. (1993). The organization of declarative and nondeclarative memory. In T. Ono, L.R. Squire, M.E. Raichle, D.I. Perrett, & M. Fukuda (Eds.), *Brain mechanisms of perception and memory: From neuron to behaviour* (pp. 219-227). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Squire, L.R. (1994). Declarative and nondeclarative memory: Multiple memory systems supporting learning and memory. In D.L. Schacter and E. Tulving (Eds.), *Memory systems* (pp. 203-231). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Stachran, M.W.J., Ewing, F.M.E., Deary, I.J., & Frier, B.M. (1997). Is type II diabetes associated with an increased risk of cognitive dysfunction? *Diabetes Care*, 20, 438-445.
- Steelman, L.C. (1985). A tale of two variables: A review of the intellectual consequences of sibship size and birth order. Review of Educational Research, 55, 353-386.

- Steelman, L.C., & Powell, B. (1989). Acquiring capital for college: The constraints of family configuration. *American Sociological Review*, 54, 844-855.
- Steelman, L.C., & Powell, B. (1991). Sponsoring the next generation: Parental willingness to pay for higher education. *American Journal of Sociology*, 96, 1505-1529.
- Stene, L.C., Magnus, P., Lie, R.T., Sovik, O., & Joner, G. (2001). Maternal and paternal age at delivery, birth order, and risk of childhood onset type 1 diabetes: population based cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 323, 369-371.
- Sternberg, R.J. (1985). Beyond IQ: A triarchic theory of human intelligence. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Sterns, H.L., Barrett, G.V., & Alexander, R.A. (1985). Accidents and the aging individual. In J.E. Birren & K.W. Schaie (Eds.), *Handbook of the psychology of aging* (2nd ed.,). New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Teachman, J.D. (1995). Sibling resemblance and symmetry in intellectual skill. *Sociology of Education*, 68, 205-220.
- Thapar, A., Petrill, S.A., & Thompson, L.A. (1994). The heritability of memory in the western reserve twin project. *Behavior Genetics*, 24, 155-160.
- Thurstone, L.L. (1938). *Primary mental abilities*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Thurstone, L.L., & Ackerson, L. (1929). The mental growth curve for the Binet tests. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 20, 569-583.
- Tisserand, D., & Jolles, J. (2003). On the involvement of prefrontal networks in cognitive ageing. *Cortex*, 39, 1107-1128.
- Troll, L.E. (1985). *Early and middle adulthood* (2nd ed.). Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Tulving, E. (1984). Précis of elements of episodic memory. *The Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 7, 223-268.
- Tulving, E. (1985). How many memory systems are there? *American Psychologist*, 40, 385-398.
- Tulving, E. (1983). *Elements of episodic memory*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Tulving, E. (1993). Human memory. In P. Andersen, O. Hvalby, O. Paulsen, & B. Hökfelt (Eds.), *Memory concepts, basic and clinical aspects* (pp. 27-45). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Tulving, E., Kapur, S., Craik, F.I.M., Moscovitch, M., & Houle, S. (1994). Hemispheric encoding/retrieval asymmetry in episodic memory: Positron emission tomography findings. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 91, 2016-2020.
- Turkheimer, E., Haley, A., Waldron, M., D'Onofrio, B., & Gottesman, I.I. (2003). Socioeconomic status modifies heritability of IQ in young children. *Psychological Science*, 14, 623-628.

- Velandia, W., Grandon, G.M., & Page, E.B. (1978). Family size, birth order, and intelligence in a large South American sample. *American Educational Research Journal*, 15, 399-416.
- Verhaegen, P. (2003). Aging and vocabulary scores: A meta-analysis. *Psychology and Aging, 18,* 332-339.
- Veroff, A.E. (1980). The neuropsychology of aging: Qualitative analysis of visual reproductions. *Psychological Research*, 41, 259-268.
- Viitanen, M., & Wimo, A. (1999). Demens [Dementia]. In S. Bogentoft, (Ed.), Läkemedelsboken 1999/2000 [The medicin book](pp. 820-832). Stockholm, Sweden: Apoteket AB.
- Vineis, P., et al. (2000). Delayed infection, family size and malignant lymphomas. *Journal of Epidemiology, Community Health*, 54, 907-911.
- Voyer, D., Voyer S., & Bryden, M.P. (1995). Magnitude of sex differences in spatial abilities: A meta analysis and consideration of critical variables. *Psychological Bulletin*, 117, 250-270.
- Vygotsky, L.S. (1986). Thought and language. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Wechsler, D. (2003). *WAIS-III. Swedish manual* (3rd ed.). Kristianstad: Psykologiförlaget AB.
- Wechsler D. (1997). WAIS-III WMS-II-technical manual (3rd ed.). (1997). San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation, Harcourt Brace & Compony.
- Wechsler, D. (1926). On the influence of education on intelligence as measured by the Binet-Simon tests. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 17, 248-257.
- Wheeler, M.A., Stuss, D.T., & Tulving, E. (1997). Toward a theory of episodic memory: The frontal lobes and autonoetic consciousness. *Psychological Bulletin*, 121, 331-354.
- Wichman, A.L., Rodgers, J.L., & MacCallum, R.C. (2006). A multilevel approach to the relationship between birth order and intelligence. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32, 117-127.
- Wickelgren, I. (1996). Is hippocampal cell death a myth? *Science, 271,* 1229-1230.
- Wilhelm, O., & Oberauer, K. (2006). Why are reasoning ability and working memory capacity related to mental speed? An investigation of stimulus-response compatibility in choice reaction time tasks. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 18, 18-50.
- Wohlwill, J.F. (1970). The age variable in psychological research. *Psychological Review*, 77, 49-64.
- Woodcock, R.W. (1990). Theoretical foundations of the WJ-R measures of cognitive ability. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 8,* 231-258.
- Yeudall, L.R., Fromm, D., Reddon, J.R., & Stefanyk, W.O. (1986). Normative data stratified by age and sex for 12 neuropsychological tests. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 42, 918-946.
- Zajonc, R.B. (1975). Dumber by the Dozen. Psychology Today, 8, 37-43.

- Zajonc, R. B. (1976). Family configuration and intelligence. *Science*, 192, 227-236.
- Zajonc, R.B. (1983). Validating the confluence model. *Psychological Bulletin*, 93, 457-480.
- Zajonc, R.B. (1986). The decline and rise of scholastic aptitude scores: A prediction derived from the confluence model. *American Psychological Association*, 41, 862-867.
- Zajonc, R. B. (2001). The family dynamics of intellectual development. *American Psychologist*, *56*, 490-496.
- Zajonc, R.B. & Bargh, J. (1980a). Birth order, family size, and decline of SAT scores. *American Psychologist*, *35*, 662-668.
- Zajonc, R.B., & Bargh, J. (1980b). The confluence model: Parameter estimation for six divergent data sets on family factors and intelligence. *Intelligence*, 4, 349-361.
- Zajonc, R.B., & Markus, G.B. (1975). Birth order and intellectual development. *Psychological Review*, 82, 74-88.
- Zajonc, R.B., Markus, H., & Markus, G.B. (1979). The birth order puzzle. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 37, 1325-1341.
- Ziegler, A.G., Hummel, M., Schenker, M., & Bonifacio, E. (1999). Autoantibody appearance and risk for development of childhood diabetes in offspring of parents with type 1 diabetes. The 2-year analysis of the German BABYDIAB study. Diabetes, 48, 460-468.